
Town of Altavista, Virginia
Meeting Agenda Planning Commission

Planning Commission

Tuesday, January 3, 2023
5:00 PM - 510 7th Street

Altavista, VA 24517

 

1. CALL TO ORDER

2. APPROVAL OF AGENDA

3. WELCOME AND INTRODUCTION OF COMMISSIONER ASHBY ROBINSON

4. APPROVAL OF NOVEMBER 7, 2022 MINUTES

4.1 Planning Commission Meeting - Minutes 11/7/22

5. CITIZEN COMMENT PERIOD

6. PUBLIC HEARING(S)

7. OLD BUSINESS

7.1 2045 Comprehensive Plan Update

8. NEW BUSINESS

8.1 Planning Commissioners' Welcome Packet & Matters Considered by Public Bodies

8.2 Review of Planning Commission Bylaws, Rules of Procedure, and Roberts Rules of
Order Cheat Sheet

8.3 Planning Commission Statement of Ethical Principals and Government Ethics -
Albermarle County Land Use Law Handbook

8.4 Discretionary Land Use Decisions, Ex Parte Communication, and Freedom of
Information Act

 
January 3, 2023 Planning Commission Meeting

 

 

 

 

 attachment. PC Mtg. Minutes 11.07.22

 

 

 

 

 

 Planning-Commission-Welcome-Packet.pdf
Albermarle County Digest of Land Use Issues.pdf

 Bylaws - PC - 2023.pdf
Rules of Procedure.pdf
ROBERTS_RULES_CHEAT_SHEET.pdf

 PC Code of Ethical Principals 2023.pdf
Albermarle Ethics in Government.pdf

 Albermarle Approach to Discretionary Land Use Decisions.pdf
Ex-Parte Communications.pdf
FOIAGuideForMembersPublicBodies.pdf

1

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/d64af0baedd6a641680efefcc4b721e30.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1709605/PC_Mtg._Minutes_11.07.22.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/eed60e3d6fcf22f3ffa9d2595c61fdf50.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/04a9ed800b89c88d28173b96d46a1d1b0.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1696693/Planning-Commission-Welcome-Packet.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711811/Albermarle_County_Digest_of_Land_Use_Issues.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/531039a9154592932c2bfd1e2668b0060.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1712570/Bylaws_-_PC_-_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1712592/Rules_of_Procedure.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711817/ROBERTS_RULES_CHEAT_SHEET.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/253d87593ee44d52fe713059eb86eef20.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1691520/PC_Code_of_Ethical_Principals_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711856/Albermarle_Ethics_in_Government.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/0e13b20fd876a6a35d5cf8145db870d50.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711837/Albermarle_Approach_to_Discretionary_Land_Use_Decisions.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711836/Ex-Parte_Communications.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711832/FOIAGuideForMembersPublicBodies.pdf


8.5 2022 Annual Report

8.6 Visioning Exercise

9. ADJOURNMENT

 Altavista Planning Commission 2022 Annual Report.pdf

 

 

THE TOWN OF ALTAVISTA IS COMMITTED TO FULL COMPLIANCE WITH THE AMERICANS WITH
DISABILITIES ACT STANDARDS. TRANSLATION SERVICES, ASSISTANCE OR ACCOMODATION
REQUESTS FROM PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES ARE TO BE REQUESTED NOT LESS THAN 3 WORKING
DAYS BEFORE THE DAY OF THE EVENT. PLEASE CALL (434) 369-5001 FOR ASSISTANCE.

2

https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/0a8223902f4a9d9b37eda6eb01e913650.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711795/Altavista_Planning_Commission_2022_Annual_Report.pdf
https://d2kbkoa27fdvtw.cloudfront.net/altavistava/4a9069d6e96b5553da109d7faccaf9850.pdf


TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 4.1
Approval of November 7, 2022 Minutes
Title: Planning Commission Meeting - Minutes 11/7/22
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Approve minutes as presented; or direct Staff of revisions needed.

Explanation:

Background:

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

attachment. PC Mtg. Minutes 11.07.22

3

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1709605/PC_Mtg._Minutes_11.07.22.pdf


The Altavista Planning Commission held their regularly scheduled meeting on Tuesday, November 

7th, 2022, at 5pm, in Council Chambers at Town Hall, located at 510 7th Street, Altavista, VA. 

 

Members present:  John Jordan, Chairman 

    Marie Mitchell, Vice Chair 

    Reggie Bennett, Vice Mayor 

    Marvin Clements 

    Meghan Bolling 

 

Staff present:   Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director 

    John Eller, Town Attorney 

    Crystal Hailey, Assistant Town Clerk 

 

CALL TO ORDER 

Chairman John Jordan called the Altavista Planning Commission Meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 

 

DETERMINATION OF QUORUM 

With all Commissioners present, Chairman Jordan confirmed a quorum. 

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Chairman Jordan asked if there were any amendments needed to the agenda, and there were none. 

 

Upon a motion by Vice Chair Marie Mitchell, and seconded by Commissioner Marvin Clements, the 

Planning Commission voted 5-0 to approve the November meeting agenda as presented. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE & INVOCATION 

Chairman Jordan delivered an Invocation for the meeting and afterwards, the Planning Commission 

and staff recited the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Chairman Jordan asked the Commission if they saw any amendments needed in the October 2022 

meeting minutes, to which there were none. 

 

With a motion made by Vice Mayor Bennett, and seconded by Vice Chair Mitchell, the minutes for 

the Commission’s October meeting were approved as presented, with a 5-0 vote. 

 

PUBLIC EXPRESSION 

Mr. Glenn Berger, 206 River Oaks Drive, Altavista, came before the Planning Commission regarding 

his property located at 3326 Lynch Mill Road, and asked that the Commission consider rezoning the 

property as residential, which was its original zoning and use for over 200 years; or to revise the 

definition of the property’s current Industrial zoning district to include residential use. 

 

Mr. Berger pleaded his case by referencing Altavista’s need for additional housing. He stated there 

were homes existing on three sides of his property, and while Abbott Labs was located behind his 

property, through traffic for transfer trucks was prohibited to Lynch Mill Road and directed to use the 

4



Clarion Road entrance of Abbott’s facility. Mr. Berger said that he believed the property and home 

would better serve the community as residential, not industrial. 

 

Chairman Jordan asked Community Development Director Sharon Williams what the Planning 

Commission’s next steps in processing Mr. Berger’s request were. 

 

Ms. Williams stated there were no actions required of the Planning Commission at that time. She said 

that she had explained the process to Mr. Berger, and, after that evening, his next course of action was 

to submit a formal application to the town for consideration to allow his property to be rezoned to 

permit residential use. Ms. Williams reminded the Commission that rezoning one parcel would be 

considered “spot zoning”, and in most cases, illegal. 

 

Commissioner Bolling asked why the property was rezoned from residential to Industrial. 

 

Town Attorney John Eller, the former owner of the property, stated that the property was rezoned 

Industrial in the 1970s, to coincide with the new Ross/Abbott Plant being built on the adjacent property. 

 

Chairman Jordan recommended Mr. Berger submit an application if he if he intended to continue the 

rezoning process. He thanked Mr. Berger for his time. 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 

2045 Comprehensive Plan Update 

Chairman Jordan opened this public hearing at 5:12pm. 

 

Community Development Director Sharon D. Williams gave an overview of the subject. Ms. Williams 

introduced Kelly Hitchcock, Director of Planning and Development at the Central Virginia Planning 

District Commission (CVPDC), which assisted with the Comprehensive Plan update. Ms. Williams 

stated that a Comprehensive Plan was a locality’s long-range vision for its future, and that localities 

were required to review their plan every five years.  She referenced Code of Virginia, Section 15.2-

2223(a), the Planning Commission shall prepare and recommend a Comprehensive Plan for the 

physical development of its jurisdiction; and the governing body shall adopt the plan. She said, while 

the Planning Commission, Town staff, and the CVPDC worked together to prepare the update, an 

online survey was also created to gather citizen input.  Ms. Williams stated, the plan included 

information gathered from a SOAR (Strengths, Opportunities, Aspirations, and Results) Analysis and 

that the plan was restructured to include information the town’s history, its historic Downtown District, 

and Avoca Museum. She informed the Commission that the demographic data had been updated based 

on the 2020 Census, and the new plan incorporated other Town Plans that mentioned Community 

Development Director or the Planning Commission as an implementor. She said what was created was 

a vision of a thriving Altavista in 2045 and showcased the town as a regional service center.  Ms. 

Williams stated that one of the most important aspects of the Comprehensive Plan update was the 

Planning Commission’s intense review of and the decided revisions made to the Future Land Use Map 

(FLUM), showing their collective vision for the Town of Altavista’s land development.  Ms. Williams 

stated that the draft Comprehensive Plan was advertised as required, and a required hearing being held. 

 

Commissioner Bolling asked if the copy of the Draft Comprehensive Plan that the Commission 

received was the final copy. 

 

Ms. Williams stated the draft would be adopted as the final copy unless Town Council made changes. 

5



With no further questions or comments from the Commission, and no public comments, Chairman 

Jordan closed the public hearing at 5:28 pm. 

 

Upon a motion by Vice Chair Marie Mitchell, and seconded by Commissioner Marvin Clements, the 

Planning Commission voted in favor, 5-0, to accept the Draft Comprehensive Plan as presented; and 

for Staff to deliver a recommendation to the Town Council to adopt the updated plan. 

 

Chairman Jordan referenced the request heard from Glenn Berger earlier that evening and asked staff 

if his request was considered reasonable and if the FLUM update conflicted with the potential of 

rezoning Mr. Berger’s property at 3326 Lynch Mill Road. 

 

Ms. Williams answered it did not.  She reminded the Commission that she believed approval of Mr. 

Berger’s request would be considered spot zoning; therefore, staff would recommend denial of the 

request.  Ms. Williams recommended cancellation of the December Planning Commission meeting. 

She said the Commission would start the update to the Zoning and Subdivision Ordinances at the 

January Planning Commission Meeting. She said, during the process, the town could consider adding 

another zoning district, such as Residential/Office, to the Zoning Ordinance and asked the Commission 

to think of items they wanted to address.  

 

Chairman Jordan shared his favor with Ms. Williams suggestion. He also stated, that if a citizen 

submitted a proposal that was prohibited by the town’s existing rules and regulations, but the proposal 

was within reason and good for the town, he was in favor of investigating all possible avenues to help 

the citizen, and the town, come to an acceptable solution. 

 

Ms. Williams said that wanting to help an upstanding citizen of the community was commendable, but 

she reminded the Commission that zoning was mandated by state code and all localities with zoning 

should not to be arbitrary in their decision making. 

 

Vice Mayor Reggie Bennett stated that he believed spot zoning was permitted if the action financially 

benefited the locality. He referenced functional zoning, where in some cases properties were allowed 

to be used as residential within an industrial zoning district, if the surrounding industries were not 

considered a residential nuisance. 

 

Ms. Williams reminded the Commission that functional zoning was not in Altavista’s existing 

ordinance. She suggested rather than tackle a specific property they look at the matter wholistically 

during the upcoming Zoning Ordinance update; and consider a new zoning district for such matters. 

 

There was a unanimous consensus of the Planning Commission to accept staff’s recommendation. 

 

OLD BUSINESS - There were no old business items to discuss at that time. 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

No new business items were scheduled for this meeting. 

 

Chairman Jordan referenced Commissioner Clements’ term expiring December 31st, 2022, and asked 

the Commission if anyone had a recommendation for his replacement. 

 

6



Ms. Williams informed the Commission that Commissioner Clements submitted a recommendation 

for Mr. AJ Robinson; and accordingly, she forwarded the recommendation to the Town Manager.  

 

Commissioner Clements informed the Planning Commission that Mr. Robinson had lived in Altavista 

his entire adult life and was a supervisor at Abbott Laboratories. Mr. Clements said that he believed 

Mr. Robinson would be a good fit for the Commission and a good community representative. He said 

Mr. Robinson was eager to serve his community. 

 

There was a unanimous consensus of the Planning Commission to recommend AJ Robinson to Town 

Council for consideration of Commissioner Clements’ replacement on the Commission. 

 

Ms. Williams stated that she would forward the recommendation to the Town Manager. She said the 

recommendation would most likely be considered at the Town Council meeting that next evening, 

Tuesday, November 8th. 

 

Adjournment: 

With no further business to discuss, Chairman Jordan adjourned the meeting at 5:42 p.m. 

 
 
 
_________________________        _____________________________ 

John Jordan          Sharon D. Williams, AICP 

Planning Commission Chair        Planning Commission Secretary 

7



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 7.1
Old Business
Title: 2045 Comprehensive Plan Update
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Receive information from staff

Explanation:

An update on the Comprehensive Plan will be given.

Background:

On December 13, 2022 Town Council voted 5-0 to approve the 2045 Comprehensive Plan as presented
by a vote of 7-0.

Funding Source(s):

General Fund 

Attachments:  (click item to open)

8



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 8.1
New Business
Title: Planning Commissioners' Welcome Packet & Matters Considered by Public Bodies
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Receive information from staff.

Explanation:

The Community Development Director has created a "welcome packet" for new Planning
Commissioners.

Background:

To assist with the onboarding of new Planning Commissioners, the Community Development has
created a Welcome Packet for new members which can be used as a guide by all Commissioners.
 
Included is Appendix E of the Albermarle County Land Use Handbook, which is listed as a resource in
the Welcome Packet. This document provides an overview of the key matters that are considered by
governing bodies, Planning Commissions, Architectural Review Boards (historic preservation boards),
and staff.  This guide is a go-to tool for localities across the Commonwealth.

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

Planning-Commission-Welcome-Packet.pdf
Albermarle County Digest of Land Use Issues.pdf

9

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1696693/Planning-Commission-Welcome-Packet.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711811/Albermarle_County_Digest_of_Land_Use_Issues.pdf


 

 

 

 

Town of Altavista 

Planning Commission 
 

 

 

Welcome Packet 

2023 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

Department of Community Development 

10



2 

 

 

Welcome! 
 

Congratulations on your appointment to the Town of Altavista Planning Commission. 

This packet was designed to guide you through your four-year term as a member of the 

Planning Commission. Within the packet you will find information on: 
 

 

 

page 3 

4 

5 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

 

Planning Commission Overview 

Department of Community Development 

Zoning Ordinance 

Subdivision Ordinance 

Comprehensive Plan 

Different Types of Land Use Cases 

Rezoning (Zoning Map Amendment) Review Procedures 

Special Use Permit Review Procedures 

Commission Logistics 

Additional Resources 

11



3

3

3 

 

3  

Mission 

To make recommendations on planning activities that best promote the health, 
safety, convenience, and general welfare of the Town of Altavista’s citizens. 

Planning Commission Overview 

The following overview is designed to help get you acquainted with the rules and responsibilities 
associated with being a member of the Town of Altavista Planning Commission. It is intended to 
be a resource to you as you fulfill your term on the Planning Commission. 

 

 

 

 

The Planning Commission 

The Planning Commission is an appointed body charged with promoting the orderly 
development of the community. Every locality in Virginia is required to have its own Planning 
Commission (Code of Virginia § 15.2-2210). Per state law, the Planning Commission is 
responsible for a variety of tasks: 

• Preparing the local Comprehensive Plan; 

• Preparing and reviewing amendments to the zoning and Subdivision Ordinances; 

• Reviewing proposed changes to the zoning map; and 

• Reviewing the local Capital Improvement Program (CIP), at the direction of the 

governing body. 

The Planning Commission is not a legislative body, but an ADVISORY COMMITTEE. It makes 
recommendations to Town Council on legislative matters related to land use, such as the 
adoption and amendment of the Comprehensive Plan, Zoning Ordinance, and 
Subdivision Ordinance. 

In the Town of Altavista, the Planning Commission consists of five (5) voting members, 
which includes one (1) member from Town Council (Town Code Reference: Chapter 58, 
Article II). Each member is appointed to serve a four-year term. 

12



4 

 

 

Department of Community Development 

Staff from the Department of Community Development provide technical support to the Planning 
Commission. The department’s duties are described below. 

 

Current Planning (Development Administration) 

Staff is responsible for the administration and enforcement of the Zoning and Subdivision 
Ordinances. Tasks associated with the administration of these ordinances include the 
processing of subdivision proposals, site plans, rezoning applications, special use permit 
(SUP) applications, and variances. Staff also responds to general inquiries and other 
requests. The department serves as the primary staff contact for the Planning Commission 
and Board of Zoning Appeals and provides support to the Town Council as needed or 
requested. 

Long-Range Planning (Project/Policy Development and Management) 

Planning recommendations are routinely provided to the Planning Commission and the 

Town Council on a wide array of issues. Strategic and long-term planning begins with the 
preparation and implementation of the Comprehensive Plan; associated Comprehensive 
Plan or zoning text amendments; and other local projects. These planning documents 
provide the foundation for many of the land use and budgetary decisions implemented by 
the Town of Altavista. 

Staff also works with regional and state agencies to address transportation issues and 
other matters of regional and/or statewide significance, including the Transportation 
Technical Committee (TTC) for the Central Virginia Planning District Commission (CVPDC). 

Code Compliance 

Code compliance helps ensure that the Town of Altavista’s zoning regulations are 
enforced consistently and equitably.  

A variety of code issues are reported to the department, including zoning violations, tall 
grass, nuisances, and environmental concerns.  

Violations are investigated as complaints from the public are received. 

Under the Code of Virginia the names, addresses, and telephone numbers of 
complainants furnished in confidence with respect to an investigation of individual zoning 
enforcement complaints or complaints relating to the Uniform Statewide Building Code 
(§ 36-97 et seq.) or the Statewide Fire Prevention Code (§ 27-94 et seq.) made to a local 
governing body are confidential. 

13

https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/36-97/
https://law.lis.virginia.gov/vacode/27-94/


5

5

5 

 

5  

These zoning districts listed in Article III, Division 5 and 6 are intended to establish within 
the town to provide for the establishment or continuation of small businesses that serve 
surrounding residential uses and a wide variety of businesses to which the public 
requires direct and frequent access and is characterized by frequent vehicular and 
pedestrian traffic. 

 

Commercial Districts 

Zoning Ordinance 

The Zoning Ordinance establishes regulations regarding the use of land. It also establishes design 
standards for new development. The Town of Altavista’s Zoning Ordinance was first adopted in 
July 1965, and it has been amended over time to reflect the changing needs of the community. 
Localities in Virginia are not required to adopt a Zoning Ordinance, but most have [Code of 
Virginia § 15.2-2280]. 

Zoning Districts 

In the Town of Altavista, there are Seven (7) different zoning districts and one (1) overlay 
district. An interactive zoning map can be found at 
https://altavista.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a9fe7f155fb8445aa
ba9c0dc9b07b214 

 

Residential Districts 

These zoning districts listed in Article III, Division 2, 3, and 4 are intended to maintain the 
residential character of those areas and to promote and encourage a suitable 
environment for the enjoyment of family life. 

Low Density Residential (R-1) Medium Density Residential (R-2) 

Residential Manufactured Home Park 

(R-MHP) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Industrial District 

This zoning district (listed in Article III, Division 7) is intended to provide areas where the 
principal use of the land is for light, moderate, and heavy industrial operations where 
business can be successful and grow in the community. 

Industrial (M)  

  

Local Commercial (C-1) General Commercial (C-2) 

14

https://altavista.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a9fe7f155fb8445aaba9c0dc9b07b214
https://altavista.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a9fe7f155fb8445aaba9c0dc9b07b214


6 

 

 

Planned Unit Development District 

This zoning district listed in Article III, Division 7 is intended to promote a broad mix of 
land uses in more intensive development settings, promote the efficient use of land, 
allow for flexible development standards, provide open space, and protect the natural 
features and beauty of the land. Planned unit developments (PUD's) are intended to 
provide variety, flexibility, mixed-uses, and convenience for residents. 

Planned Unit Development (PUD)  

 
 

Uses within the Zoning Ordinance 

Within each zoning district, there are permitted (by-right) uses, special uses, accessory 
uses, and temporary uses. Each use listed is defined within the Zoning Ordinance [Sec. 83- 

521]. 

Permitted Uses 

These are uses permitted by-right as a principal (primary) use on the property. Permitted 
uses can take place without any legislative approval from Town Council. 

An example of a principal use permitted within the R-1 zoning district is single-family 

detached dwelling. 

Special Uses 

These are uses that are only permitted on a specific property within a specific zoning 
district with approval of the Town Council. Special uses may be appropriate at certain 
locations, but not throughout the entire zoning district. With approval of a Special Use 

Permit (SUP), Town Council may impose conditions on how the use is operated. 

An example of a Special Use Permitted within the C-2 zoning district is mini storage. 

Accessory Uses 

These are uses that are “incidental and customarily subordinate to principal uses.” A 
specific accessory use may be permitted by-right or with a special use permit. 

An accessory use may not be located on a property unless there is a principal use. For 
example, a garage may be a permitted accessory use associated with a single- family 
dwelling located within the R-1 zoning district. 

 

Temporary Uses 

These are uses that are of limited duration (do not permanently occur at a specific 
location). A specific temporary use may be permitted by-right or with conditional 
approval. 

 
An example of a temporary use permitted within the R-1 zoning district is a mobile  

storage container (45 days per Sec. 86-602(b)(1)). 

 
  

15



7

7

7 

 

7  

Dimensional Standards 

Within each zoning district, there are dimensional requirements, such as: 

• Minimum Lot Area/Size 

• Minimum Lot Width 

• Maximum Lot Coverage 

• Minimum Front, Side, and Rear Yard Depths/Setbacks 

 
Development Standards 

Development standards govern certain physical features of a project and the form that 
development can take, regardless of the underlying zoning district. These standards 
address several components of the development, including: 

• Vehicular Access and Circulation (Sec. 86-565); 

• Off-Street Parking and Loading (Sec. 86-561); 

• Landscaping and Buffers (Sec. 86-571); 

• Exterior Lighting (Sec. 86-591); and 

• Signage (Sec. 86-639). 
 

  

16



8 

 

 

Subdivision Ordinance 
The Subdivision Ordinance regulates the division of land by establishing procedures for dividing 

land and requirements regarding the provision of infrastructure (roads, utilities, etc.) as land is 
developed. 

Unlike the Zoning Ordinance, the Subdivision Ordinance does not address the use of 
properties but helps ensure that development occurs in an orderly manner and is served by 
the necessary infrastructure. The approval of subdivision plats is an administrative process, 
with the Department of Community Development reviewing subdivision plans to determine 
whether they meet the provisions of the Subdivision Ordinance. 

Virginia Code requires that all localities adopt a Subdivision Ordinance (Code of Virginia § 
15.2-2240). 

17



9

9

9 

 

9  

Comprehensive Plan 
The Comprehensive Plan establishes a vision of what the Town of Altavista should look like in 20 to 
30 years. It identifies objectives and strategies that can be implemented to realize the 
community’s vision. 

The Comprehensive Plan addresses a variety of topics, including land use, housing, 
economic development, and natural resources. The document includes the Future Land 
Use Plan and the goals and objectives for the Town of Altavista. 

The Comprehensive Plan is an ADVISORY document intended to guide zoning decisions and 
public investment. The Planning Commission and Town Council consider the plan’s 
recommendations when evaluating different policies and proposals, including rezoning 
requests, Special Use Permits, and the Capital Improvement Program (CIP). 

Per state law, every locality in Virginia must have a Comprehensive Plan (Code of Virginia 

§ 15.2-2223), and it must be regularly reviewed (Code of Virginia § 15.2-2230). 

The current Comprehensive Plan was adopted on December 13, 2023. Any amendments 
to the Comprehensive Plan must be reviewed by the Planning Commission and approved 
by the Town Council. 

 

 

 

 

 
 

18



10 

 

 

Different Types of Land Use Cases 
The Planning Commission reviews and provides a recommendation on legislative issues related   
to land use. Below is a list of the types of legislative issues that might be reviewed by the Planning 
Commission and an explanation of the typical review process. 

The Planning Commission reviews and provides a recommendation on the following requests: 

• Rezonings (Zoning Map Amendments) 

• Special Use Permits (SUPs) 

• Amendments to the Zoning Ordinance 

• Amendments to the Subdivision Ordinance 

• Amendments to the Comprehensive Plan 

For each of the types of cases, a public hearing is held before the Planning Commission and 
the Town Council. Prior to each public hearing, a notice is published in the newspaper of 
record (which is the Altavista Journal) for two consecutive weeks and letters are mailed to 
adjoining property owners. 

After holding a public hearing and discussing the merits of a request, the Planning Commission 

may: 

• Recommend approval of the request; 

• Recommend denial of the request; or 

• Defer a decision to a later meeting. 

Per the Code of Virginia, the Planning Commission must make a recommendation 

regarding a particular request within 100 days of the public hearing. All recommendations 
are forwarded to Town Council, which makes the final decision on all requests (approval 
or denial). 

Ministerial actions, such as the review of subdivision plats and site plans, are reviewed 
administratively by the Department of Community Development to ensure compliance 
with standards set forth in the Subdivision and Zoning Ordinances (no review by the 
Planning Commission). 

19



11

11

11 

 

11  

Rezonings (Zoning Map Amendments) 

Rezonings are requests to change the zoning of a particular property. Requested rezonings 
(zoning map amendments) must be reviewed by the Planning Commission and approved 
by Town Council. While these requests involve changing the property’s zoning classification 
from one district to another, they may also involve modifications to conditions (proffers) 

imposed upon a property as part of a previous rezoning case. 

A rezoning may or may not include proffers, which are voluntary offers made by an 
applicant/ landowner during the rezoning process to perform an act or donate money, a 
product, or services to justify the appropriateness of a proposed rezoning. These proffers (or 
conditions) govern the use of the property, imposing additional requirements and 
restrictions that exceed standards set forth in the subdivision and Zoning Ordinances. A 
rezoning request that includes proffers is referred to as conditional zoning (Sec. 86-792). 

Rezoning requests are reviewed as follows: 

1. Pre-Application Conference 

The applicant must meet with the Director of Community Development to discuss 
the rezoning request and the review process. 

2. Neighborhood Meeting 

If the rezoning request will increase the intensity of uses on the property, a 
neighborhood meeting is recommended, where the applicant will invite 
adjoining property owners and the public to learn more about their proposal. 

3. Application Submittal and Acceptance 

A rezoning application may be submitted to the Department of Community 

Development. Payment is due at the time of submission. 

4. Staff Review 

The application will be reviewed by the Department of Community Development, 

other town departments, and applicable state agencies. 

5. Planning Commission: Public Hearing and Review 

The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing and review the request. 
After discussion, the Planning Commission may recommend approval, denial, or 
deferral. This recommendation is forwarded to Town Council. 

6. Town Council: Public Hearing and Decision 

Town Council will hold a public hearing and review the request. After 

discussion, Town Council may approve, deny, or defer the request. 

 

An applicant/landowner may request amendments to proffered conditions associated 
with an approved rezoning request. Proffer amendments follow the same review process as 
general rezoning request. 

 

 

 

 

20



12 

 

 

Special Use Permits 

Per the Zoning Ordinance, certain uses may be permitted within select zoning districts with 

approval of a Special Use Permit (SUP). Uses that require a SUP may be appropriate in 
certain locations, but not throughout the entire zoning district. The Planning Commission 
and Town Council review SUP applications to ensure that the proposed use: 

• Does not change the character and established pattern of development in the 

surrounding area; 

• Is compatible with uses permitted by-right within the zoning district; and 

• Does not adversely affect the use or value of neighboring properties. 

Town Council may require that applicants adhere to certain conditions, which are 

intended to offset any potential negative impacts the use may have on the surrounding 
community. If the approved conditions are not met, the SUP may be revoked. 

Special Use Permit requests are reviewed as follows: 

1. Pre-Application Conference 

The applicant must meet with the Director of Community Development to discuss 
the request and the review process. 

2. Neighborhood Meeting 

The applicant may choose to hold a neighborhood meeting, where adjoining 
property owners and the public are invited to learn more about the proposal. 

3. Application Submittal and Acceptance 

A SUP application may be submitted to the Department of Community 

Development and payment is due with the submittal. 

4. Staff Review 

The application will be reviewed by the Department of Community Development, 

other town departments, and applicable state agencies. 

5. Planning Commission: Public Hearing and Review 

The Planning Commission will hold a public hearing and review the request. 
After discussion, the Planning Commission may recommend approval, denial, or 
deferral. This recommendation is forwarded to Town Council. 

6. Town Council: Public Hearing and Decision 

Town Council will hold a public hearing and review the request. After 

discussion, Town Council may approve, deny, or defer the request. 

21



13

13

13 

 

13  

Commission Logistics 
 

Virginia Freedom of Information Act 

The Virginia Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) provides the public with a right to access 
meetings of government bodies and access information used to conduct government 
business. 

Any gathering, email, or phone call of three or more members of the Planning Commission 
is considered a meeting. Any meeting (three or more members of the Planning 
Commission) must be open to the public and advertised at least three working days prior 
to the meeting. 

Emails, text messages, and other correspondence regarding issues associated with your 

role as a member of the Planning Commission may be considered public documents. This 
correspondence should be saved/maintained in case a member of the public requests this 
information under FOIA. 

 

Getting Started 

Once a new member is appointed to the Planning Commission, the following actions need 

to be taken (with support from the Department of Community Development): 

• Payroll Forms 

The member must submit completed payroll-related forms to the Human 
Resources Department to receive a stipend. Each member receives $50 per 
meeting attended, with Certified Planning Commissioners receiving $75, which is 

paid monthly. This stipend is mailed to the address on file with the Town of 
Altavista. 

22



14 

 

 

Additional Resources 
 

Land Use Education Program 

The Land Use Education Program (LUEP) at Virginia Commonwealth University (VCU) offers 
the nationally recognized Virginia Certified Planning Commissioner Program, which is held 
several times a year in different parts of the state. It provides detailed information regarding 
planning processes and practices. For more information, visit: 
https://cura.vcu.edu/land-use-education/ 

 

Managing Growth and Development in Virginia: A Review of the Tools Available to Localities 

The Virginia Chapter of the American Planning Association regularly updates this toolkit to 
keep localities up to date on the most current enabling legislation pertaining to land use 
planning in Virginia. The toolkit can be accessed at: 
https://virginia.planning.org/policy-and-advocacy/updated-toolkit-released/ 

 

Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook was created as a resource regarding 
land use issues and is published online as a convenience to citizens. The handbook can be 
accessed at:  

https://www.albemarle.org/government/county-attorney/resources/land-use-
lawhandbook 

 

Comprehensive Plan 

The 2045 Comprehensive Plan is available on the Town of Altavista Website. It can be accessed 

at: 

https://www.altavistava.gov/government/town_departments/planning___zoning/town_plans.p

hp 

 

Zoning & Subdivision Ordinance 

The Town of Altavista Zoning Ordinance (Chapter 86) and Subdivision Ordinance (Chapter 

66) are available online through Municode. Both chapters can be accessed at: 
https://library.municode.com/va/altavista/codes/code_of_ordinances. 

 

Online GIS 

The Town of Altavista maintains an online GIS mapping system. It is available to the public at: 

https://altavista.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a9fe7f155fb8445aaba9

c0dc9b07b214 

 

23

https://www.albemarle.org/government/county-attorney/resources/land-use-lawhandbook
https://www.albemarle.org/government/county-attorney/resources/land-use-lawhandbook
https://www.altavistava.gov/government/town_departments/planning___zoning/town_plans.php
https://www.altavistava.gov/government/town_departments/planning___zoning/town_plans.php
https://library.municode.com/va/altavista/codes/code_of_ordinances
https://altavista.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a9fe7f155fb8445aaba9c0dc9b07b214
https://altavista.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=a9fe7f155fb8445aaba9c0dc9b07b214


���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

"##$%&'(�)�*'+$,-�./�0$1�23--$4,�5.%,'&$4$&�61�-7$�8.34&�./�9:#$4;',.4,<�-7$�=>3%%'%+�5.??',,'.%<�-7$�"4@7'-$@-:43>�A$;'$B�8.34&<��3%&�61�5.:%-1�9-3//�CD�=>3%%'%+�3%&�E.%'%+�� "D�"?$%&?$%-,�-.�-7$�5.?#4$7$%,';$�=>3%�FGHIJK�LM�HNK�OGHHKJP��������������QR��S	���Q�������	���T����������Q��	���R�	��������T�����������U�V������
����������T����Q�������Q������������
���RQ��������	�����������R���W��������������Q����������Q��Q����RQ��
	���������������S	��U��	����X���������������QR��S	���Q���QX�QTQ�����Q������Y�QT������		Y�Z��Q�X����Q�Q���Y�����S	���Q���	T�Q�������X�	�����Q��������
��Y�Q������Y�Q����RQ������������	Q������������Z��Q�X����Q�Q���U�[L\\]̂̂]L_�̀LaKP� ����S	���Q�X�����Q��Q�����	�������
	Q�����Q�X�����������������������Q����������b�����T�c���RQ����������������������������U�dLGJe�̀LaKP� ����b������	�������
	Q�����Q�X�����Q���������Q�Q������Q�X�
����������������������������U��dLGJe�fgHP� ���Q�����������������������Y�����������������������Q��Q���T��T���������Q����Q��U��FGHIJK�LM�HNK�fgHP�� ��XQ�	��QR�U�[L_̂]eKJGH]L_̂P� ����T�		��Q�X�����������Q��T���hQXQ�Q�������i��WU �   jY���Q���Q������������T���������Q����Q����T�����������Q����T������������QR���	��Y�
�����Q������	��
�����	Q����������������������		P�k�������������QR���	������		�
��������Q���������������T�X�Q�Q�X�����������	Q��Q�X�������Q�����Y���l���������������Q������R�	��������T�������Q������Q����Q		Y�Q�������������Q����������������
�
	��T����������������������Y�
������������������	��Y���T���Y����	�Y����Y����R��Q����Y������Q�������X����	���	T����T�����Q���
Q�����Y�Q��	��Q�X������	��	��������������Q����Q��
Q	Q�Q��Um�� 8D�A$;'$B'%+�3�#4.#.,$&�#:6>'@�/$3-:4$�:%&$4�n'4+'%'3�5.&$�o�CpDqrqqsq�tuqqsq�A$;'$Bvw�-.�&$-$4?'%$�B7$-7$4�'-�',�,:6,-3%-'3>�3@@.4&�B'-7�-7$�5.?#4$7$%,';$�=>3%�FGHIJK�LM�HNK�OGHHKJP�S���������
	Q��T�������xX����		�Y������������T���
	Q��T��Q	Q������������������Y����Y���
	Q�����Y���
	Q��
�Q	�Q�XY���
	Q����Q	Q���T��Q	Q��Y�����
	Q����RQ���������Q���T��Q	Q��Y��y�����T���Q	����T��Q	Q�Q�����������Q������X�����T��Q	Q�Q��z������
���RQ����������hQXQ�Q��������������i��WU �  j �QT�����������������������������������QR��S	����������������T�������������
�QRQ�Q��Y��Q����	��Y����	����T���R�	������U�[L\\]̂̂]L_�̀LaKP� ����S	���Q�X�����Q��Q�����	�������
	Q�����Q�XY�Q���������Q�Q������Q�X�
���Y�����������Q������Q�Q��Y��Q����������������Y��������b�����T�c���RQ���U�dLGJe�̀LaKP� ����b�������QR�����������Q��Q��{��������T�Q������Q�Q��������������Q������������������T��������Q��U�����XQ�	��QR�Y��Q�Q���Q�	Y�������������������y�	�Q����Q���������|U�
24



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
������������������ ���

!"#$%&�'(�#)&�*+#,� ��-.�	��./�0�1'2345&%"#4'23,� 6��������������������
	.��7��.	.��8��	����.��9��������9������:��������3$;3#"2#4"<<=�42�"++'%5�.����������������./��>	��0�?����		�9�@��
�����.�		�A�������@	�-�	�9�
����������		�0A�� BC�DEFGFH�IJK�LMNFOMNFPQ�!"#$%&�'(�#)&�R"##&%,��������.���������.���	���.7.���.�������������� �S��.�-��.��.���0������-�	��.����7�������S��.�-��.��.�����	.������������������������		�����
��.-�������
������.�	��������.�9���������
	.��������������������������.�.����	����.S��9������.�.����������:.�������
������7����������7����������	.���9�������:.����
�.	�.�-���.-���0���S��.�-��������������9��	��������������%&T'242U9�����-�������S��.�-��.��.���.����.�������	����.��	������9������������/.���	������/������	.���.����	���9��������7���/�	������9�����/.���	�������������77��0�1'VV4334'2�W'<&,� ����>	���.�-�����.��.�����	�������
	.�����.�-�����������������������.����������X�����7�Y���/.����������������������������0���������.��.��8������������.�������
��������������.���������������	.����8��	����
���S�����������.��.������.-���.����������������������Z�������
���������	.����9��������	����	����
���S���������������������0��['"%5�W'<&,� ����X������	�������
	.�����.�-�����.���������.�.������.�-�
����������������������������0��['"%5�*+#,� ���.�����������������������9�����������������������.��.���7��7���������.����.��0�\7�����X�������.�����������������S��.�-����9�.��������������.�����0�����X�����	�����������������S��.�-�����������.��.��������.��	����.�����./�����������������Z�������������/��.�������S����	����	��������������Z�������������/��.���0��!"#$%&�'(�#)&�*+#,� ��-.�	��./�0�1'2345&%"#4'23, ]'%�T'242U�V"̂�"V&25V&2#3�#'�+'2_&2#4'2"<�"25�̂<"22&5�5&_&<'̂V&2#�T'242U�543#%4+#3�"25�"V&25V&2#3�#)&%&#',�.̀-.�.�������a�bc0����de���/.��������������������7�����7�		��.�-�7������������
������.������������/�	��.�-�S��.�-��-�	��.�����������.�-�S��.�-��.��.���
�����.��,��f �����:.��.�-������������������7�������0�f �������������./���	��0�f ������.��
.	.����7��������7��/�.��������0�f �����������7�-�����������-�0�f ��������������7������Z�.��������7�����������.���������	����7��/�.��������������������.����
������	��.�������������.������.����������������.��0�f �������������.����Z�.��������7�����������.��0�f �����Z�.�������7���.����9�����.�-9������	�9�����9��	��-�����9������.�������9������������
	.����/.���0�f ���������/��.����7������	��������0�f ��������/��.����7�7	�����	�.��0�f ����������.����7�	.7�������������7���.������.�-���������7�.	���0�f ��������/��.����7��-.��	���	�����7�����	�	���0�f ���������/��.����7������.����������.�/�	���0�f ����������-�������7���������������.���������7�	��������-���������������0��*554#4'2"<�+'2345&%"#4'23�('%�T'242U�V"̂�"V&25V&2#3�&3#";<43)42U�"�̂<"22&5�5&_&<'̂V&2#�T'242U�543#%4+#�42�*<;&V"%<&�1'$2#=,�gbh���������������������	��������/�	����������.�7.������������������.�������7������	��������/�	��������.��.��i�g�h���������������������������
���S�����.�������.����7�����	��������/�	�������������������������./���	��i�����gjh������	��.����7�
25



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

�������������	��������"�	������������#������$���%	%�%��$���
	%��&��%	%�%��$�������
	%����"%���'�())*+*,-./�0,-1*)23.+*,-1�4,3�5,-*-6�7.8�.72-)72-+1�.72-)*-6�.�8/.--2)�)292/,872-+�5,-*-6�)*1+3*0+�*-�(/:27.3/2�;,<-+=>�?@A������������������������������������$���%���%��$�����������������%��%���&����	��������"�	��������������%��������������B�@C�C'�D�����? A������E����������%�������������������������%��������������������	���%��%�������	��������"�	��������%��%��'��� FG�HIJKJL�MNOM�PQNJRQNJMS�T.+<32�,4�+U2�V.++23>���W��%�X���E�������������������������E���&�����Y��%�X�Z�%�����'�;,77*11*,-�[,/2>� ����\	���%�X�����%��%�����	�������
	%�����%�X�����������������������%����������]�����&�̂���"%����������������������������'��_,.3)�[,/2>� ����]������	�������
	%�����%�X�����%���������%�%������%�X�
����������������������������'��_,.3)�(0+>� ���%�����������������������$�����������%���&���������X��$�����������������������%��%���&��&���������%����%��'�̀&�����]�������%�����������������W��%�X���E�$�%��������������%�����'�T.+<32�,4�+U2�(0+>� ��X%�	��%"�'�;,-1*)23.+*,-1>� ;,-1*)23.+*,-�,4�+U2�8<38,121�,4�5,-*-6'�a%X%�%�������B�@b' �  C���c�%��������W��%�X��X�	��%����
�����%X�������X%"��������
	������%����%������������&�����&�		��%�X��������>��d \�"%���&�����c�����	%X��$��%$����"��%������&�������$�������&����&���&%�$�&	���$�%������%�X���������&�%	��$��%��$�������������X��'�d e����������"�������X���%���%��������
	%��������'�d f��%	%�������������%����&������"��%���$�������%"�$����������%����������%��'�d f��%	%�����������"%�%����&����c�������	%�������&%��������%��$��%�������"�����%��$��%"%	���&����$����������%��$�����$������X�$�&	����������%��$������	�$�����$�&�����$��	��X�����$������%���	�&��%	%�%��$��%����$������������
	%���c�%������'�d \�������X�%���������������%����&���������������������%���%������'�d \�������X�%���������"�����%�X��&�	���$�����������%����&�����	��%���%���	��%����������������%���&��%	%�%����E%��%�X����"�%	�
	�$��
�����%����&�	%X��������%$����X���������X���%���%����"�	��������������%��$���	�����&�	%&�$����	��$����������&���&%�$�&	���$����%�$�����������X��'�d ������X��������%����"�	����������%"%�%����������"%������%�
	�����	�������������	�X��������E�
���'�d \�"%���&����������"��%����&��X%��	���	�����&�����	�	��������������	������&��%X�%&%������&������������%����&����������	���"%������'�d \���������������	����������������&����������&�	%��������%����$�%��	��%�X���%����̂������X�"������������%	%�����%�&��%	%�%��'�d \��������������%�����������"��%����&��&&���
	������%�X���%��
	��&������%�X���������������&������������&�����	���	%��$������		������������
	�������%����&���������������&������������&������	���%�X��%��%����%��%����%�������	���	%���%���%������'�d \�"%���������
	��������%����X�%����������������������%	%����
����$��%	%����%����		��%���$������%	%�����%������������%���#��������&��������$��E�	��%�X����%�����������
������a%X%�%��g��%���	�h���'�
26



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

����" �#������$��%$&$�$�������'�"() �  *����������	�����+��$�&���������������,���	$�������$��-���$���.��"/,��	������	��������$�&��$��$���
�����$���$��+��$�&���������������)��� 01�2345678�9:4�34;<6=:�>?@ABC�DE�@FC�G?@@CBH�I��$�&��$��$����&�	��$������	$������������������		�����
��$&��������������		�����
������$�	��������$�)�-���$�	���������&����		������$�������$����������������#�����+��$�&��$��$�����������������		�����
��$&��,�
������������������J��$�����������������������
��������J$���������������$�$��������
��$�����������������������$������)�KDLLMNNMDO�PDQCH� ����R	���$�&�����$��$�����	�������
	$�����$�&�����������������������$����������S�����#�-���J$�����������������������$�	��������$�)���������$��$��T������������$����	���$��	�����������������$����������������������$�$�������
��$�������$�����U����$����$�����������$�	��������$�)��VD?BW�PDQCH� ����S������	�������
	$�����$�&�����$���������$�$������$�&�
�����������������������$�	��������$�)��VD?BW�XY@H� ���$����������J�����������������$�	��������$�,�����������������������$��$���#��#���������$����$��)�Z#�����S�������$�����������J����������$�	��������$�,�$��������������	��$��)�����S��������$������������
	������$�$������������������$�������#�����������$�	����)�>?@ABC�DE�@FC�XY@H� ��&$�	��$J�)�KDONMWCB?@MDONH� ������������'�"*�//)*���J$�������������#�		��$�&�#������������
������$����H�["\�����������������$		�
������
�����$�	����$����������U����������	�]�[ \���������������������#�������U����������	�������������
�������$		�
������&���
�����������������]�[/\�����������������$		�
��$����������$������������������$�������#�����I��$�&�̂�$�����,��$��������&�	��$����$��������������'�"*�(,������$���������
	$�����	��,���#���,�����&����	���	#��]�����[�\�������������������������$		�
������$�������$����������������$J��R	��)�� _1�2345678�4̀543=6ab:�>?@ABC�DE�@FC�G?@@CBH�c-���$�	��������$��d�����c����$�	��e����$���d����
���������
��%$&$�$��	���	$�$����������������������$�&)�Z���	
���	��������,�����$�	��e����$������J�����$##���������������������$�	��������$���
�����������$�	��e����$�����		�������$���&�	��$��������$�$�&���������$+�,���$&��,����,�
�	�,���	����$����#���������,�����������$�$	���������#���������,����
�����$#$��,���$J��,���J�$��,�������������	����������������e����	�������$+���$������I��$�&�̂�$�����)���KDLLMNNMDO�PDQCH� ����R	���$�&�����$��$�����	�������
	$�����$�&�����������������������$����������S�����#�-���J$�����������������������$�	��e����$����������������$�	��e����$�����������������&��$�����������$�������$������
�	���#���
�$	�$�&�
�����������(!f�[����$������&����		�������		�����
������$�	��e����$������������������T��I��$�&�̂�$�����\,����������������	�$��	��������$��$��������	#��$	���#���
��������#������U�$�$�&�	���	$��)�����R	���$�&�����$��$����	�������$�������������	$���$����#������$�	��e����$����#����$������##�����������������������J�	)�g������������$��$�������$����������$�	��e����$��,�$��������������������$����������S�����#�-���J$���)���������$��$��T������������$����	���$��	�����������������$����������������������$�$�������
��$�������$�����U����$����$�����������$�	��e����$��)��VD?BW�PDQCH� ����S����$���������$�$������$�&�
���,���������$�	��e����$��������
������$������������S���T�����������&����)�Z#�����
	$�����$�&�$���h�$���[�����e�	����$���$��c����$��$���i�	�d��
�J�\,�����S����#$�����	�������
	$�����$�&�
�#������$�$�&)��
27



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

"#$%&�'()*� ���+����������,�����������������+�	��-����+��.�������/���������������������+��+���/��/���������+����+��0�1/�����2�������+�����������,����������+�	��-����+��.�+��������������	��+��0�����2��������+������������
	������+�+��������������+�������/�����������+�	��-����+��0�3$)4%5�#6�)75�'()*� ��8+�	��+,�0�9#:;<&5%$)<#:;*� ����/�����.���������.��+��+�.�����/+��+�8�.�����,�������+�����.�+���������	+��
	������+�����/�����=��+�8�>�+�������		��+�8��������+/+���+��.���+,�.���,�+��+��0�� ?@�ABCDEFEGHDBI�JF�HKKCJKCEHDBLBII��3$)4%5�#6�)75�M$))5%*�1���	
���	��������.���,��	����+�	��+8��������,��
����+����+/+�������+8�+/+������������/����+����������������������������������+8�������+���+��	�������.���������.����+��+�����+��+���������������+������+8�����	���	+�+��0�N�������������+���+���,��������	��8�����,+�+
	��/���������5:)%$:(5�(#%%<&#%;�����
	+����.�����8��.���������������������
��+�������+/+������/������+����������	�������������-�����O�-��������������+��	�����+��������������������		+�8���+����������������/���8+��	���	���/�����	������+/����+����	���+�������P�+��Q0��������+/+������/������+��������+��+������
���������+������	�R�,+���2����OS�R2TQ0��'U"�U#V5*� �����R2�+���������+�+������+�8�
��������+��+�����������+/+������/������+�������������+�������+��������������������������������+���+���,������+������+�������+����������	+��
	�����+8��8�+��	+����/����������������+��0�1��+���+�8������+/+������/������+�������.������R2�����+������������
	������+�+������������������������������������+���+���,��������������+�������+����������	+��
	�����+8��8�+��	+���0�9#WW<;;<#:�U#V5*� ����X	���+�8�����+��+�����������	��+�������+/+������/������+�����������	+���+����������	0�"#$%&�U#V5*� ����2�����/�N���,+������������+��������	��/����������+�+����/������R2�/+	���
���������	+����.������������88+�,��.�����=��+�8����+�+�����.���������������-����+,�0�"#$%&�'()*� ����2���������//+�.��,���.������+/��+�����	����+�������������+�+����/������R20�3$)4%5�#6�)75�'()*� ��8+�	��+,�0�9#:;<&5%$)<#:;*� �����������������Y�Z[�\!0]0̂.��������+�+�������������������������������+���+���,������+������+�������+����������	+��
	�����+8��8�+��	+��������+�������+������	�/�������������������������+8��.����	�.�����.���/�/���.�
�+	�+�8�����+�	��������	��.��������8�������/���������.�����	����+����������/+8���+����/����+�8����������	�������+�8.���������	�������+�8.���������,��+����/��-+��+�8�,�8����+������������	�/������.����������������/��+8��.���������	����+��.�����.�������	���/��		�/���+�80�������������Y�Z[�\!0]0[���,+��������.���������	.�����2���������S8+,����������+����+��������������������+�����/�����_�R2̀���8������+������������+�/����+���+�����������������/����������,+����/����������	0�a��������+��+�8���������	�����+�+�8��������
	+����/����/��+	+��.�����
��������+����������+/+������/������+��������+/�+��/+�������������/��+	+���+������
	+��������+��0T�b@�cHLd�dBeBfJKgBLD�� h@�ijkdEeEIEJL�DBlD�HgBLdgBLDI�3$)4%5�#6�)75�M$))5%*�����
�+,+�+�����-�������������������������-���/�����N�
�+,+�+���>�+�����0�9#WW<;;<#:�U#V5*� ����X	���+�8�����+��+�����	�������
	+�����+�8�����������������������+����������2�����/�N���,+����������������������������0��
28



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

"#$%&�'#()*� ����+������	�������
	,�����,�-�����,���������,�,������,�-�
����������������������������.��"#$%&�/01*� ���,�����������������������2�����������������������,��,���3��3���������,����,��.�43�����+�������,�������������������
�,5,�,�����6�2�,��������������,�����.�7$18%)�#9�1:)�/01*� ��-,�	��,5�.�;#<=>&)%$1>#<=*� ?�������������������-�	��,���,�����
	���
��@,-,�,�������AA�BC. �  DB�����-��BC. �  DC.B.�� EF�GHIJKLKMKNO�PQRSM�7$18%)�#9�1:)�T$11)%*�U�
�,5,�,����	��������������,�����,�-����������������	�����,		�
���,5,����,��������������	�����������������	����,��������������3��V�,���,���5������.������	���3�����U�
�,5,�,����-����,����������,���������������	������,�3,��������,�,�����V�,��������3�����U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����.�43�,������2������	��������
������5��.�;#XX>==>#<�'#()*� ����Y	���,�-�����,��,�������,������	�������	��
��������
�,5,���3��������,�����5�	��3�����
�,5,�,����	���
������������Z��U�
�,5,�,����-���2�����������5�	��3�����	,�,������
�,5,�,����	����,�������,�,���������,���������
�,5,����
[����.���������,��,��Z����	���	��,����������,���������������	������,�3,��������,�,�����V�,��������3�����U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����.���������,��,�����������5�����,�����5�������	��2�����,����������5������	,�,�����	����,�����������,�,���������,���������
�,5,����
[�����,3����������V�,���������,�3������6������V�,�����.�43������	��������������V�,��������3�����U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����2�,�������
������5��.�"#$%&�'#()*� ����+�����3�U���5,��������,������	�������	��
��������
�,5,���3�����������,��,��Z���,�����5�	��3�������
�,5,�,����	�����,�������5�	��3�����	,�,�����	����,�������,�,���������,���������
�,5,����
[����.�����+���Z����	���	��,����������,���������������	������,�3,��������,�,�����V�,��������3�����U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����.�"#$%&�/01*� ���,����������5�����,�����5�������	��2�����,����������5������	,�,�����	����,�����������,�,���������,���������
�,5,����
[�����,3����������V�,���������,�3������6������V�,�����.�43������	��������������,�,�����V�,��������3�����U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����2�,�������
������5��.�7$18%)�#9�1:)�/01*�� �,�,���,�	.�;#<=>&)%$1>#<=*� ����U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����2���������������-�	��,��������������
�����,�3,������������U�
�,5,�,���W�,�����.�� \F�GKS]�̂QROM��7$18%)�#9�1:)�T$11)%*�U,����	��������������,�����,�-����������������	�����,		�
����5�	�����
���������
�,5,���2�,��	��,�-�����	����,��������������3��V�,���,���5������.�U,����	��������V�,���3��������5�	�������2��,����6����,����3�*�_B̀�����
	,��,�-�������������������,�-	��3��,	�����		,�-��������,�-	��	��a�_ ̀�����
	,��,�-�������3��,	�����		,�-������	������������,���
��������������		,�-�a�_b̀������������������,���������������,�-	��3��,	�����������������3��,	�����		,�-�a�_D̀�������-,��	���	����,5,�,��a�_C̀�����-������6����,�����3�������������������33�������,�-2�������2���,�-�������-���a�����_�̀������	,-,���������
	�������,�����������
	���3� !!�����	����	���.������	���3�����U,���Y	����-����,����������,���������������,����	������,�3,��������,�,�����V�,��������3������,����	����-�	��,����,������c��,�-�W�,�����.�43�,������2������,����	��������
������5��.�
29



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

"#$$%&&%#'�(#)*+� ����,	���-�.�����-��-�������-������	�������	��
��������/�	����0��������-�����/�	��0����-����	���
������������1��2-���,	����.���3�����������/�	��0����-�-�-�	��-����	����-�������-�-���������-���������/�	�����
4����5���������-��-��1����	���	��-����������-���������������-����	������-�0-��������-�-�����6�-��������0������-����	����.�	��-����-������7��-�.�8�-�����5���������-��-�����������/�����-�����/�������-����	��3�����-����������/������-�-�-�	��-����	����-�����������-�-���������-���������/�	�����
4�����-0����������6�-���������-�0�����6�-�����5�90������-����	��������������6�-��������0������-����	����.�	��-����-������7��-�.�8�-�����3�-�������
������/��5�:#;<=�(#)*+� ����>�����0�2���/-��������-������	�������	��
��������/�	����0�����������-��-��1���-�����/�	��0������-����	�����-�������/�	��0�����-�-�-�	��-����	����-�������-�-���������-���������/�	�����
4����5�����>���1����	���	��-����������-���������������-����	������-�0-��������-�-�����6�-��������0������-����	����.�	��-����-������7��-�.�8�-�����5��:#;<=�?@A+� ���-����������/�����-�����/�������-����	��3�����-����������/�����-�-�-�	��-����	����-�����������-�-���������-���������/�	�����
4�����-0����������6�-���������-�0�����6�-�����5�90������-����	��������������-�-�����6�-��������0������-����	����.�	��-���3�-�������
������/��5�B;AC<*�#D�AE*�?@A+� �-�-���-�	5�"#'&%=*<;A%#'&+� �����-����	����.�	��-����-������7��-�.�8�-�����3���������������.�	��-��������������
�����-�0-�������������-����	����.�	��-���5�� FG�HIJKILKMNO�PJMQ�INR�STUSVLKMNO�LM�OWXRKYKOKMN�VZIL�MJ�OKLS�VZIN�JS[WKJSQSNLO��B;AC<*�#D�AE*�\;AA*<+�����.����	��.�	��-�����0�����2�
�-/-�-���8�-�������������-����	����.�	��-����-������7��-�.�8�-����������
��/�-�������-/��5�"#$$%&&%#'�(#)*+� ����-��/�-��-���������]����-��������-�-�.�����6�-�������0��-���/��������������-�����
������,	���-�.�����-��-���-������0-���-����������-	���������������-�����
������������1��2�
�-/-�-����.����������2-���,	����.����̂����_�.���̀a5�����/�-��-�������]����-��������-�����
�������.��������
������-�����
����������-��-�����������	�
��������
�-/-�������/�	����̂����_���	-����̀a�0��������.���1���-�����/�	��0�����/�-��-������]����-�������������/�	��0���/�-��-������]����-����-�������-�-���������-����������	-������
4����5��:#;<=�(#)*+� ����>�����0�2���/-��������-������	�������	��
���������	-�����0�����������-��-��1���-�����/�	��0�����/�-��-������]����-�����-�������/�	��0�����/�-��-������]����-����-�������-�-���������-����������	-������
4����5�8�������	3�����>���������-������������������	-���������	��
�����-��������/��������
���]�������0��������������0����������-������	-��
	���-�-�����6�-������5�:#;<=�?@A+� ����/�	3��-������-������������
	������-�-���3����-�����/�	5�B;AC<*�#D�AE*�?@A+� ���-�-����-/�5�"#'&%=*<;A%#'&+� b��������������������	��-����-�������������-�������������������.����	��.�	��-�������	�����	��-����
�����-�	�-�4���-����������-�5�cG�dLeSJ�QILLSJO�� fG�gJMOKMN�INR�OSRKQSNL�UMNLJMZ�INR�OLMJQhILSJ�QINIiSQSNL�B;AC<*�#D�AE*�\;AA*<+�9�����4����-����-�������	������/�	�������������3�������	���������-����]����3������-���
������0�j!3!!!��6����0�����������0�	�����6�-������������������
��-������/�	��0���
30



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

�������������"���������#��$%&'�()*����������+����(�����#���,�#������$�������-.��/����������������*0����������#����#		�#��	��������1�	��/����#����������#����������	��	�������2�#������������2��������������"�������	���0�����&'�(����#��#���1#������������������
���������������"#���2�����#�����#"�������������(�"������#�#������/������������3��&'�(���"��0��4566788759�:5;<=� >���0��?5@AB�:5;<=� ����C�����/�'���1#��������#������	�������	���/�����#�����#������#����#���
������(�"������#�#�����=�$-*������#�����1�	��/�������#����������#����������	��	�����&'�(����#�D�$ *���������1�	��/�������#����������#����������	��	�����&'�(����#���#�������#�#��������������
E�������D�$F*������#�����1�	��/���1�#��������G����#��D�$H*����������#���#�������������������������II�-.�F!!�����"��-.�F!J2�����#�#�"��#��#	��������#1#�#�������������
E�������������G�����/�������&#"#�#�����#�������'��#����������	�(�"���$&�'�(*�������&'�(D�$K*�����'��������#�����#�#��������
������(�"������#�#�����D�$J*�������/�����������#�#��������
������(�"������#�#�����D�$.*�����/�#	����/�����(�"������#�#��������������#��#�������#�����#�����L�#���
������+����(�����#���,�#�����D�����$�*���������1�	��/�������#����������#����������	��	�����&'�(����#�����������#�����#������	#������#���'�����	���$��������	��/����
��$�*�����
��
��"���
��������������	�������*0��?5@AB�MNO=� �//#�2��1���2������#/���������#����/�����(�"������#�#�����2���������������#�������(�"������#�#������/�#	����������0�P@OQA<�5R�OS<�MNO=� T���#�E��#�#�	����#�#���#�	2�������#�"����������
E�����������/����������	0�45987B<A@O7598=� +����������(�"������#�#�����3�����#�#����������������������+����(�����#���,�#�����0�� UV��WXYZ[\]̂�_̀]a�bĉ�d\ecaf]̂[�dg]g\�hXihj][d�P@OQA<�5R�OS<�k@OO<Al������#G������	���/������������������#"������#�������	���/��#���1�����������������������'������#"������������#������������0������	���	#����������������#���1�����������������������#������/��������E����	#����0������	���#��
��������������
�������#������/�/��������
���1�#	�
	����������������/���G����#����#�������#G�������#��0���4566788759�:5;<l >���0�?5@AB�:5;<l� m�#��	���#������������#1����/�����&#"#�#��n����������/����������#��2�����C��������������#G������	���/�����������'������#"�����0��/����������#�"�����
	#�����#�"���	��E�#��	���#����������������#1����/�����&#"#�#��n����������/����������#��2�����C����/#��	#o�������������������	��0�?5@AB�MNOl ��"#�	��#1�0�45987B<A@O7598l ����
�������#������/�/��������
���1�#	�
	����������������/���G����#����#�������#G�������#��2���#���#����1#����
������&#"#�#��n����������/����������#��0�� pV�qîXer̀gr̂]̀�]af�bĉ\dg]̀�fXdĝXegd�P@OQA<�5R�OS<�k@OO<Al�������������/��"#��	���	�����/�����	��#��#�����������/�	�=�$-*������1��������������"#��	���	�����/�����	�	�����/��/����������#��2���1#�������	�������2������������#��������D�����$ *�������"��������1�	�����������#���1�������/��"#��	���	�����/�����	�	�����/�������#�"�/��������������"#��	���	�����/�����	��������0�������#��#�����#��#���#�����#
#����/���
�#�"���1�	��������������#�����#1�����2��������������������	�#�"�#������
31



���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

"�����"#���$"��	���	���%�����	�������"��&��"�������"������#�	��%�����'�����%�(���#"���)�*+,,-..-+/�0+123 ����4	���"�$�����"��"��������������
	"�����"�$������5�������������
	"������"��"��������������	�����������6"��"�$��"��"��&����������"��"���#"�����%��6"��"�$��"��"����7������#���8����9!�����&�������"�$����������"��"��:���#"�����"��;)*+,,-..-+/�<=>3 ?����������"����������'�����%�(���#"����"��	��"�$&�
�������	"�"������&�����������"�	��%%�����%������"��"������������������"%"���"�������������������:���	���"�$���	"�"��������
@���"#��)���������%�"�����"��"���#"����%����"��"��&���������"��"������������������������������"����&����"%�&�������"���������"��"��)�A+BCD�0+123� ���"����������
	"���������	�����&�%���"��"����#"���&����"���������"����&����"%�&�������"���������"��"��)�E%�����'�������"�����������
	"��&�������&�����"���&������"%�����"��"��&�"��������������"�����)�A+BCD�<=>3 ��$"�	��"#�)�*+/.-D2CB>-+/.3 ����
	"��"�$��������"�$�	����������"��"��F�G"$"�"�������H�9I) �8J!K�	"��������%�		��"�$�����"����"����%������
	"��"�$��������"�$�	����������"��"��F�79;������$"��	���	�����%�����	��"$�"%"�������%�	�����"��"�������"��"��������"�"�������"���������@������������L�7 ;��������������%������"$�"%"������$"��	���	�	��������"$�"%"�����%�����	�	������"��"�������"��"�������"���������@�����������������������������"�����"#���$"��	���	���%�����	�������"��L�7J;����������������6������%�	����������������������"#��%��"�$���%�������"��"�������"��"�������"���������@������������L�78;�	���	���#�	�������	������������������L�7I;��������������"#��4	������&�"%����	"��
	�&�����M��"�$��$�	��"���L�7K;�������#"�������	�
���%"����%����"�"�$�����	�����"�������"��"���%���$"��	���	�����%�����	�����L�����7N;������������������"�������
���	�#���)���������"��"�����������'�����	������������"�����������������"����%�����������:���$"��	���	�����O�����	�P"��"�����#"��������"����)�?�#"��"�$����"��"��F�G"$"�"�������H�9I) �8J!N���#"�����������������"��"��������"��	����"��"�������������"�������������"�	��%%�����%������"��"������������������"%"���"�������������������:���	���"�$���	"�"��������
@���"#��)�QR�STUVWXVYZV[\]̂�]U_]W�B̀>aC2�+b�>c2�dB>>2C3�������������������	"$"
	��������"#����
	"����������������#"��&���
���&�����������������@�"��"��"���	�����)�e�"��"��"���	�������������
	"����������6�������
������'�����%�(���#"���)������������	"������"�"��������		�����
	"������������������#"�������
����#"����"�������������������
�����������
��������"	"��:��7����?"#�����f��������(���������"��;�����"��	�����%"����"�	�����
"	"�"��)�*+,gC2c2/.-h2�i1B/j�gBk2�lmnmo)������6������%�����@�"��"��"���	������$����		��%�		��������P�#�	�����������
�����"��)�*+,gC2c2/.-h2�i1B/j�gBk2�lmnmo)���*+,,-..-+/�0+123 p���)�A+BCD�0+123� ���"�����������������6�����������������@�"��"��"���	�����
�����"�������		�����
	"������&���
	"������&���
������������"��	�����)�A+BCD�<=>3 ��$"�	��"#�)�*+/.-D2CB>-+/.3 �����"�$	��	�$����$���������$���������	�%�������������"��������#"�"����%���"	"�"��)�*+,gC2c2/.-h2�i1B/j�gBk2�lqnr)��������������"#��4	����
��#�������������������s������	��$�����"�$�����"�����������#"�����
	"������������������#"���"������P�#�	��������������"	�������6����"�$���#"�������"����%�����������)�P�	"����"����������	"���"����%�@�"��"��"���	�
32



����� ����	
����
�������������������������������������� ��!�!!�

���������"���"���"#�"$" ���"�������� ���#�����%��"� ���#�����%�����"�� �"����$�#���������&�'�
�������	���(�)��" �������� ���������������*����"
"����+����"�����
" ��"���'���������#�����������"'��,
��"��
������"���������(-�./01234356783�9:;5<�1;=3�>?@A(�B����������"����$�����&�'�
�������	�������������$�

�����"����
"���"�#�C��"��" �"��
����(����#�����������������"�������"����$�����&�'�
�������	��������
����
�����

���������D�E�F��������������"� 
�����"���C ��������+"��"�#�
"���G����E!F����
" ���
����������$����"��"����#��(-�./01234356783�9:;5<�1;=3�>H@?I(��

33



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 8.2
New Business
Title: Review of Planning Commission Bylaws, Rules of Procedure, and Roberts Rules of Order
Cheat Sheet
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Review the proposed changes and provide recommendations to staff.

Explanation:

Changes are being recommended to the Planning Commission's Bylaw

Background:

Staff is recommending a change to the Planning Commission Bylaws to reflect the way the meeting are
currently conducted. It also updates the title of the Community Development Director.

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

Bylaws - PC - 2023.pdf
Rules of Procedure.pdf
ROBERTS_RULES_CHEAT_SHEET.pdf

34

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1712570/Bylaws_-_PC_-_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1712592/Rules_of_Procedure.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711817/ROBERTS_RULES_CHEAT_SHEET.pdf


PLANNING COMMISSION - BYLAWS 
 

 1 

Bylaws 
Town of Altavista, Virginia 

Planning Commission 
 

 
Sec. 58-31. Establishment.  
 

There is hereby established a planning commission, which may be referred to as the 
"commission.”  (Code 1968, § 16-2) 
 
 

Sec. 58-32. Composition; appointment; term; vacancies; salaries. 
 
(a) The commission shall consist of a minimum of five members and a maximum of seven 

members. They shall consist of at least four members and up to six members at large and 
one member from the town council and shall be appointed by the town council. One 
member may be a member of the administrative branch of government of the town. They 
shall be residents of the town qualified by knowledge and experience to make decisions 
on questions of community growth and development; provided, however, that at least 
one-half of the members so appointed shall be owners of real property. The term of the 
member from the town council, and from the administrative branch, if there are any, 
shall be coextensive with the term of office to which he or she has been elected or 
appointed, unless the town council, at the first regular meeting each year, appoints others 
to serve as their representatives. Appointments of members shall be for staggered terms 
of four years each, unless the town council shall desire to establish different terms of 
office. Vacancies shall be filled by appointment for the unexpired term only. Members 
may be removed for malfeasance in office. 

 
(b) The members of the commission, as now constituted or hereafter appointed, may receive 

a salary to be fixed by the town council by resolution, not to exceed $300.00 per annum 
for each member. The salary of the members of the commission, if any, when fixed, shall 
so continue until changed by the council, and shall be payable out of the treasury of the 
town in monthly installments. (Code 1968, § 16-3) 

 
Sec. 58-33. Meetings.  
 

(a) The commission shall fix the time for holding regular meetings, but it shall meet at least 
every two months. Special meetings of the commission may be called by the chairperson 
or by two members upon written request to the secretary. The secretary shall mail, email, 
or hand deliver to all members, at least five days in advance of a special meeting, a 
written notice fixing the time and place of the meeting and the purpose thereof. Written 
notice of a special meeting is not required if the time of the special meeting has been 
fixed at a regular meeting, or if all members are present at the special meeting or file a 
written waiver of notice. (Code 1968, § 16-4) 

 
(b) Proposed Order of Business 

   (1) Call to Order 

35



PLANNING COMMISSION - BYLAWS 
 

 2 

  (2) Roll Call Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 
  (3) Determination of a Quorum 
  (4) (3) Approval of Agenda 
  (5) (4) Approval of Minutes 
  (6) (5) Public Expression 
  (7) (6) Application Requests and Petitions (public hearings) Public Hearings 
  (8) (7) Reports by any Committees 
  (9) Report of the Planning/Zoning Administrator 
  (10) Report of the Special Sub-committees 
  (11) (8) Unfinished Business 
  (12) (9) New Business  
  (10) Matters from the Planning Commission 
  (11) Matters from Staff 
  (13) (12)Adjournment 
 
 
Sec. 58-34. Quorum; majority vote. 
 

A majority of the members shall constitute a quorum, and no action of the commission shall 
be valid unless authorized by a majority vote of those present and voting. (Code 1968, § 16-
5) 

 
Sec. 58-35. Officers and employees; expenditures, rules and records; special surveys. 
  

(a) The commission shall elect, as a first order of business at the January meeting, from the 
appointed members a chairperson and a vice-chairperson, whose terms shall be for one 
year. The commission may: 

(1) Create and fill such other offices as it awards necessary; 
(2) Appoint such employees and staff as it deems necessary for its work; and 
(3) Contract with consultants for such services as it requires. 

 
The expenditures of the commission, exclusive of gifts or grants, shall be within the 
amounts appropriated for such purpose by the town council. 

 
(b) The commission shall adopt rules for the transaction of business and shall keep a record 

of its transactions, which shall be a public record. Upon request of the commission, the 
town council or other public officials may, from time to time, for the purpose of special 
surveys under the direction of the commission, assign or detail to it any members of the 
staffs of town administrative departments, or the town council or other public official 
may direct any such department employee to make for the commission special surveys or 
studies requested by the commission. (Code 1968, § 16-6) 

 

36



PLANNING COMMISSION - BYLAWS 
 

 3 

 
Sec. 58-36. Duties.    
 
To effectuate Code of Virginia, §§ 15.2-2200--15.2-2327, the planning commission shall: 
 

(1) Exercise general supervision of, and make regulations for, the administration of its 
affairs; 

(2) Prescribe rules pertaining to its investigations and hearings;  
(3) Supervise its fiscal affairs and responsibilities, under rules and regulations as 

prescribed by the town council; 
(4) Keep a complete record of its proceedings; and be responsible for the custody and 

preservation of its papers and documents; 
(5) Make recommendations and an annual report to the Town Council concerning the 

operation of the Commission and the status of planning within its jurisdiction; 
(6) Prepare, publish and distribute reports, ordinances and other material relating to its 

activities; 
(7) Prepare and submit an annual budget in the manner prescribed by the town council; 

and 
 (8) If deemed advisable, establish advisory committees.  (Code 1968, § 16-7)  

 
Section 58-37.  Public Hearings. 
 

(a) In addition to those required by law, the Commission may hold public hearings on any    
matter, which is deemed to be in the public interest. 

(b) Notice of a public hearing shall be published once a week for two successive weeks (at 
least one [1] week apart) in a newspaper of general circulation in the area, with not less 
than six (6) days elapsing between the first and second publication.  Such notice shall 
specify the time and place of hearing, which cannot be less than five (5) nor more than 
twenty-one (21) days after the second newspaper advertisement. 

(c) The chairman or designee shall summarize the matter before the Commission, allow 
interested parties to speak, and accept written statements and other documentation 
pertinent to the matter being addressed.  All speakers must identify themselves by name 
and address before speaking.  Speakers will be limited to five (5) minutes, unless 
extended by the approval of a majority of the Commission. 

(d) In an effort tTo assure the maximum available time to each public speaker, the 
Commission should not interrupt the speaker except to ask informational questions. 

(e) An accurate, written record shall be made of the proceedings of the public hearing and 
maintained as part of the Commission’s files. 

(f) Once the Public Hearing is closed the Planning Commission will discuss the matter and 
agree, by consensus, on a recommendation to be presented to Council.  The Planning 
Commission shall have a written recommendation, when appropriate, to present to the 
Altavista Town Council. 

 
Section 58-38.  Committee(s) 
 

 (a) Special committees may be appointed by the chairman or designee for purposes and 
terms approved by majority vote of the Commission. 

37



PLANNING COMMISSION - BYLAWS 
 

 4 

 (b) The chairman shall be an ex-officio member of every committee. 
(c) Committees may request the participation of the Planning and Zoning Community 

Development Director and/or the Town Attorney at committee meetings. 
 (d) All committees will present a report to the commission. 
 
 
Section 58-39. Reports to Council  

 
(a) The Planning Commission shall prepare an annual report to be presented to Council, 

which shall include the Commission’s goals for the upcoming year.  The report will be 
presented to Council at the first regularly scheduled meeting of each year. 

(b) The Planning Commission shall review, annually, the Comprehensive Plan, track 
progress towards meeting the goals and objectives contained in the plan and determine if 
development is accordance with the plan.  The Commission shall prepare an annual 
report to be presented to Council at their first meeting of each year.   

 
Section 58-40. Rules of Order  
 
Roberts Rules of Order, Revised, shall be the accepted Parliamentary law for this organization. 
 
Section 58-41. Amendments 
 
These bylaws may be amended by a majority vote of the entire membership after thirty (30) days 
prior notice.  
 
These bylaws were adopted by the Planning Commission on the   day of  , 2023 by a vote of 
  to  .   

38



RULES OF ORDER 

FOR THE TOWN OF ALTAVISTA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 2023 

 

PURPOSE 

These rules of procedure were designed and adopted for the benefit and convenience of the 
Altavista Planning Commission. Their purpose is to help the Planning Commission conduct its 
affairs in a timely and efficient manner. When the Planning Commission rules of procedure do 
not address a procedural issue, the Planning Commission may consider the most recent edition 
of Robert’s Rules of Order for guidance. 
 

GENERAL RULES  

1. The rules contained in Roberts Rules of Order shall be the parliamentary authority in all cases 

not covered by these Rules of Order. The Town Attorney shall serve as the Parliamentarian.  

In their absence, the Director of Community Development shall serve as the Parliamentarian. 

2. The Chair and Vice Chair shall be elected at the January meeting of each calendar year to 

serve a one-year term with re-election permitted. The Chairman shall be responsible for 

conducting the meetings and shall rule on the interpretation of the Rules of Order. The Vice 

Chairman shall preside in the absence of the Chairman.  

3. The Community Development Director shall be the Secretary.  

 

MEETINGS 

1. Regular meetings of the Commission shall be held in the Town Council Chambers of the J. R. 

“Rudy” Burgess Town Hall (510 7th Street), or other location as designated by the Commission 

or Director of Community Development on the first Monday of each month. If such meeting 

falls on any legal holiday, then it shall be held on another day designated by the Commission. 

2. The time for regular meetings shall be 5:00 p.m. unless otherwise directed by the 

Commission. Public hearings shall be advertised for 5:00 p.m. If most of the Commission fails 

to attend within fifteen after the time appointed for any meeting, the Secretary shall enter 

into the minute book the names of the members present and note the adjournment for want 

of a quorum.  

3. Workshop meetings of the Commission shall be held in the Large Conference Room of Town 

Hall, or at another location as designated by the Director of Community Development and 

shall be called on an as-needed basis.  

4. The time for workshop meetings shall be posted to the Town’s website and social media 

unless otherwise directed by the Commission.  

5. Meetings shall not extend beyond  p.m. unless extended by resolution of the 

Commission.  

39



6. If the Chair, or Vice-Chair, if the Chair is unable to act, finds and declares that the weather or 

other conditions are such that it is hazardous for Commission members and the public to 

attend a regular meeting, the meeting shall be postponed for a period of two (2) weeks to 

the same time; however, if the postponement would be a town holiday or the day before a 

town holiday, the meeting shall be postponed two (2) days before the town holiday. 

Commission members and the media will be notified as promptly as possible, and notice will 

be posted on the front doors of Town Hall and on the Town’s website and social media pages. 

All hearings and other matters previously advertised will be conducted at the continued 

meeting, and no further advertisement or notice is required. The Chair may also elect to 

cancel the meeting if there are no matters before the Commission. 

7. Special meetings of the Commission and Commission work sessions to discuss planning and 

land use issues may be called by the Commission or by the Chairman with a time and location 

designated at the time of the call of such meetings. All parties having requested notification 

of meetings pursuant to the Virginia Freedom of Information Act shall be notified of any 

special meeting.  

8. All questions submitted to the Commission shall be determined by oral vote of the majority 

of the members voting on any such questions. After a tie vote on a motion to approve or 

deny, the matter shall be deferred without motion to the next scheduled monthly meeting of 

the Commission for further consideration and vote. If the vote remains tied after the second 

meeting, the matter is defeated.  

9. A motion to reconsider may be made no later than the succeeding regularly scheduled 

monthly meeting of the Commission. Such motion can only be made by a member who voted 

with the majority when the matter was first decided.  

 

CONDUCT OF MEETINGS  

1. Members shall address only the Chair or address each other through the Chair. A member 

must be recognized by the Chair before he shall proceed. Upon being recognized, a member 

shall not be interrupted during the time allowed, except when a point of order is called or 

upon being requested to yield the floor by another member.  

2. The applicant or their agent should sit in the front rows nearest the lectern to be available to 

discuss/answer questions concerning their application.  

3. Individuals interested in addressing the Commission or staff shall only do so at the lectern for 

their comments to be recorded as part of the record of the meeting, and shall only address 

the Commission, not the audience or the applicants. Comments of individuals shall be limited 

to three (3) minutes per person unless additional time is granted by the Chair. 

4. Neighborhoods should select a spokesperson to present their comments. The spokesperson 

should ask all persons supporting his or her comments to stand in lieu of repetitive 

comments.  

5. Successive speakers for either the proponents or the opponents should address different 

issues and should not be repetitive.  

40



REMOTE PARTICIPATION  

1. It is the policy of the Planning Commission that individual Commission members may 

participate in meetings of Planning Commission, to ensure the business of the public may be 

conducted, by electronic communication means from a remote location that is not open to 

the public only as permitted by Virginia Code § 2.2-3708.1, as amended, and in compliance 

with this policy. This policy shall apply strictly and uniformly to the entire membership and 

without regard to the identity of the member requesting remote participation or the matters 

that will be considered or voted on at the meeting.  

2. An individual member may participate from a remote location only if a quorum (3 members) 

of the Planning Commission is physically assembled at the primary meeting location and the 

Commission has arranged for the voice of the remote participant to be heard by all persons 

at the primary meeting location.  

3. Remote participation in a meeting due to an emergency or personal matter may be approved 

only if, before noon on the day of the meeting, the requesting member notifies the Chair of 

the Commission that such member is unable to attend the meeting due to an emergency or 

personal matter and identifies with specificity the nature of the emergency or personal 

matter.  

4. Remote participation in a meeting due to a temporary or permanent disability or other 

medical condition may be approved only if, before noon on the day of the meeting, the 

requesting member notifies the Chair of the Commission that such member is unable to 

attend the meeting due to a temporary or permanent disability or other medical condition 

that prevents the member's physical attendance.  

5. As required by law, in the event of any such participation by a member from a remote 

location, the Commission shall record in its minutes the specific nature of the emergency, 

personal matter, temporary or permanent disability or other medical condition, and the 

location from which the Commission member participated remotely.  

6. As required by law, remote participation shall be limited in each calendar year for each 

individual member to two (2) meetings of the Commission. 

7. Remote attendance shall only be permitted for regularly monthly meetings and shall not be 

permitted for attendance at workshop meetings.  

8. An individual member's request for participation from a remote location under this policy 

shall be considered approved upon communicating the request to the Chair of the 

Commission, pending review by the Town Attorney for compliance with the Code of Virginia 

and this policy. If a member’s participation from a remote location is disapproved because 

such participation would violate this policy, such disapproval shall be recorded in the minutes 

with specificity.  

 

  

41



AGENDAS  

1. The following is the standard regular meeting agenda:  

a. Call to Order (5:00 p.m.)  

b. Invocation & Pledge of Allegiance 

c. Approval of Agenda 

d. Approval of Minutes 

e. Public Expression 

f. Public Hearings 

g. Committee Reports 

h. Unfinished Business 

i. New Business 

j. Commission Matters and Miscellaneous  

k. Matters from staff 

l. Adjournment 

 

2. Matters may be placed on the Agenda by Resolution of the Commission, by notification to the 

Secretary by any member of the Commission, by request of Town Council, or by the Community 

Development Director.  

a. Matters submitted within the prescribed filing deadline are automatically added to the 

agenda in order of date/time of application. The Director shall have the authority to delay 

the placement of an item on the Commission agenda if:  

1. The application is not, in the opinion of the Planning Director, complete; or  

2. In the case of Applicant-initiated deferral requests as follows:  

a. For first submissions (those that have not previously been reviewed by 

the Planning Commission):  

i. If the deferral request is made by the Applicant prior to the first 

Public Hearing advertisement, the Community Development 

Director has the authority to place the case on a subsequent 

meeting agenda. 

ii. If the deferral request is made by the Applicant after the first 

Public Hearing advertisement, the deferral request must be 

approved or denied by the Planning Commission.  

b. For cases that have been previously reviewed by the Commission and 

have either been deferred by the Commission or remanded to Town 

Council, all deferral requests must be approved or denied by the Planning 

Commission.  

 

3. Agendas and information to be discussed shall be distributed to each member approximately 

five days prior to the meeting.  

42



COURTESY  

 

Those persons coming before the Commission shall be extended every courtesy by members of 

the Commission. Visitors at Commission meetings will be asked to extend the same courtesy. The 

Chair of the Commission shall determine when the proper courtesies are not being 

demonstrated. 

 

43



����������	�
��
���
������
������� �

����
���������

����  �!�� �!��"� ���#��
$� %��$�$�&�'���'(�

��)��$�'(��
*���� %��$�$�

+,-./01�
23�4.56�7897�:6�9,-./01

2�;.�
<6=�;.�

;.�>9-.0?
7@�

A6B6==�
23�4.56�7897�:6�06B6==

�/17?CD2�;.�
<6=�;.�

<6=�>9-.0?
7@�

E.4FC9?1�9G./7�1.?=6H�
0..4�

764FIH�67BI�
2J.?17�.K�F0?5?C6L62�

<6=�;.�
;.�;.

�E89?0� M6B?,6=�
N/=F61,�K/07860�B.1=?,

6097?.1�.K�
=.4678?1L�

23�4.56�7897�:6�79GC6�?7
2�;.�

<6=�;.�
;.�>9-.0?

7@�
O1,�,6G976�

23�4.56�786�F065?./=�P/
6=7?.12�;.�

<6=�;.�
;.�QRS�

J.=7F.16�B.1=?,6097?.1
�.K�

=.4678?1L�
23�4.56�:6�F.=7F.16�78

?=�497760�
/17?CD2�

;.�<6=�
<6=�<6

=�>9-.0?7@�
+461,�9�4.7?.1�

23�4.56�7897�78?=�4.7?.1
�G6�9461,6,�

G@D2�
;.�<6=�

<6=�<6
=�>9-.0?7@�

3170.,/B6�G/=?16==�T9�F
0?490@�

4.7?.1U�
23�4.56�7897D2�

;.�<6=�
<6=�<6

=�>9-.0?7@�
V86�9G.56�C?=76,�4.7?.

1=�91,�F.?17=�906�C?=76,
�?1�6=79GC?=86,�.0,60�.K

�F06B6,61B6I�W861�91
@�.16�.K�7864�?=�F61,?1

LH�@./�49@�1.7�?170.,/B
6�91.7860�7897�

?=�C?=76,�G6C.:H�G/7�@./
�49@�?170.,/B6�91.7860

�7897�?=�C?=76,�9G.56�?7I�
� ����

���������
����  �!�� �!��"� ���#��

$� %��$�$�&�'���'(�
��)��$�'(��

*����%��$�$�
XG-6B7�7.�F0.B6,/06�.0� F60=.19C�9KK0.17�

2J.?17�.K�.0,602�
<6=�;.�

;.�;.
�E89?0�,6B

?,6=�
A6P/6=7�?1K.0497?.1�

2J.?17�.K�?1K.0497?.12�
<6=�;.�

;.�;.
�;.16�

+=Y�K.0�5.76�G@�9B7/9C�B
./17�

7.�560?K@�5.?B6�5.76�
23�B9CC�K.0�9�,?5?=?.1�.K�78

6�8./=62�>/=7�G6
�,.16� G6K.06�16:� 4.7?.1�;.�;.�

;.�;.16�
/1C6==� =.46.16� .G-6B7=�

XG-6B7�7.�B.1=?,60?1L�=
.46�

/1,?FC.497?B�.0�?4F0.F
60�

497760�
23�.G-6B7�7.�B.1=?,6097?.

1�.K�78?=�
P/6=7?.12�

<6=�;.�
;.�;.

�QRS�
V9Y6�/F�497760�F065?./

=C@�
79GC6,�

23�4.56�:6�79Y6�K0.4�78
6�79GC6D2�<6=�

<6=�;.�
;.�>9-.0?

7@�
A6B.1=?,60�=.4678?1L� 9C069,@�,?=F.=6,�.K�

23�4.56�:6�1.:�T.0�C976
0U�06B.1=?,60�

./0�9B7?.1�06C97?56�7.D2
�<6=�

<6=�X1C@�?K�.0?L
?19C� 4.7?.1�:9=� ,6G979GC6�;.�>9-.0?

7@�
E.1=?,60�=.4678?1L�./

7�.K�?7=�
=B86,/C6,�.0,60�

23�4.56�:6�=/=F61,�78
6�0/C6=�91,�

B.1=?,60D2�
;.�<6=�

;.�;.
�QRS�

Z.76�.1�9�0/C?1L�G@�786�
E89?0�23�9FF69C�786�E

89?0[=�,6B?=?.12�
<6=�<6=�

<6=�;.
�>9-.0?7@�

V86�4.7?.1=H�F.?17=�91
,�F0.F.=9C=�C?=76,�9G.5

6�8956�1.�6=79GC?=86,�.
0,60�.K�F06K6061B6\�91@

�.K�7864�49@�G6�?170.,/
B6,�97�91@�7?46�6]B6F7

�:861�4667?1L�
?=�B.1=?,60?1L�.16�.K�78

6�7.F�78066�497760=�C?=76
,�K0.4�786�K?0=7�B8907�T>

.7?.1�7.�+,-./01H�A6B6=
=�.0�J.?17�.K�J0?5?C6L6UI

��
�

44



����������	�


������������������������������������������������� !�!�"#����$�#%&##�� �'����&��(�)���� �*"� !�� ���"�+,��-.����/0123234�135�166243234�078�9:;;<��=�)")*"-�-(�#"#��( $�'�" � ��� "�",#"��(#���"�+,��-��>�?�"�%�(�-�-"%�! �@"#���"�)")*"-�*A� ()"���;B�078��;02;3�26�C<;D470�C89;<8�078��668E/:F�� >�?�"�)")*"-�)(G"#���"�)���� H�I�JKLM�NOPN�QKR�SNKST�...�( $�-"#&)"#���#�#"(�.�>�= ���"-�)")*"-�#"%� $#���"�)���� H�I�UMVKWX�NOM�JKNYKW��-�I�UMVKWX�YN��-�UMVKWX.�>�?�"�%�(�-�#�(�"#���"�)���� H�IN�YU�JKLMX�PWX�UMVKWXMX�NOPN�ZZZ�[RM�\K]�RMPX\�̂KR�NOM�_]MUNYKẀ��;36258<102;3�;9�078��;02;3�� a.�b")*"-#�%( �$"*(�"���"�)���� .��c.�d"+�-"�#e"(G� !�� �$"*(�"f�)")*"-#��*�(� ���"�+,��-.�g.�?�"�)(G"-��+���"�)���� ��(#�+�-#��-�!��������"�+,��-��+��"�%,(�)#����e-�e"-,A�h.�i"*(�"�)&#��*"�%� +� "$������"�)"-��#��+���"�)���� .��j.�i"*(�"�%( �*"�%,�#"$�� ,A�*A��-$"-��+���"�(##")*,A�kclg�m��"n��-�*A���"�%�(�-��+� ��� "�#""G#���"�+,��-�+�-�+&-��"-�$"*(�".����78�o712<�pD06�078�E;02;3�0;�1�q;08�� a.�?�"�%�(�-�(#G#H�[RM�\K]�RMPX\�̂KR�NOM�_]MUNYKẀ�r+� ��� "�-�#"#����%,(�)���"�+,��-f���"�%�(�-�e-�%""$#�����(G"���"�m��".��c.�?�"�%�(�-�#(A#H�sOM�_]MUNYKW�YU�KW�NOM�PXKtNYKW�K̂�NOM�JKNYKW�NOPN�ZZZ�[U�JPW\�PU�PRM�YW�̂PLKRu�UP\�v[\MwZ�kx(&#"�+�-�-"#e� #".n�sOKUM�KttKUMXu�UP\�yzP\y.�kx(&#"�+�-�-"#e� #".n���sOKUM�P{UNPYWMX�t|MPUM�UP\�v[\MwZ���78�o712<�133;D3o86�078�<86D:0�;9�078�q;08}�� a.�sOM�P\MU�OPLM�YNu�NOM�JKNYKW�VPRRYMUu�PWX�...�k� $�%(�� !���"�"++"%���+���"�m��"n��-��~Z�sOM�WP\U�OPLM�YN�PWX�NOM�JKNYKW�̂PY|U����������C�������������������� a.���#�" ������"����"-�#�$"�c.���%&#�� ��##&"#f� ���e"-#� (,���"#�g.�=m��$��&"#��� � !�)���m"#�h.�d"�e�,��"�
45



����������	�


��������������
��
���������������������������������������������� !�!��"#�"�$%��� %��&'%���#��(!&� �)�#�!*%�+#��",�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�0�1%���0�& �0�!&� ,�-�2%03%#4�52�'�0%��6*�&#0� /�7�0�8%�!*�!�999999999,5�������������������������� !�!��(*� +%�$�0%��)�!*%���#'& +�!*�!�&$�3%& +�'&$(�$$%',�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0%��6*�&#0� /�7�0�8%�!*�!�!*%�0�!&� �3%��0% '%'�3:��''& +�!*%�)�;;��& +���#'$�99999999,5�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0%��6*�&#0� /�7�0�8%�!*�!�!*%�0�!&� �3%��0% '%'�3:�$!#&1& +���!�!*%�)�;;��& +���#'$�99999999,5�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0%��6*�&#0� /�7�0�8%�!*�!�!*%�0�!&� �3%��0% '%'�3:�$!#&1& +���!�!*%�)�;;��& +���#'$/�999999999/�� '��''& +�& �!*%&#�";�(%�!*%�)�;;��& +���#'$�99999999,5��<�=�<������������������)%%;�!*�!�� �&'%���#�"#�"�$�;�3%& +�'&$(�$$%'� %%'$�0�#%�$!�':�� '�& 8%$!&+�!&� ,�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0%��6*�&#0� /�7�0�8%�!*�!�!*%�>�%$!&� �3%�#%)%##%'�!����(�00&!!%%�0�'%��"��)�0%03%#$�?0&!*/�@� %$�� '�A#�� ,5������������=�������������� !�!*%�0%03%#$*&"�!��*�8%�0�#%�!&0%�!��(� $&'%#�!*%�>�%$!&� �� '%#�'&$(�$$&� �� '�:����� !�!��"�$!"� %�&!�!����'%)& &!%�!&0%��#�'�:/�� '�*�8%�&!�(�0%��"�)�#�)�#!*%#�(� $&'%#�!&� ,�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0%�6*�&#0� /�7�0�8%�!��"�$!"� %�!*%�>�%$!&� �� !&;�99999999,5���<�B�����C������������!*& 1�'&$(�$$&� �*�$�+� %�� �)�#�!���;� +�� '�:����� !�!��$!�"�'&$(�$$&� �� '�8�!%,�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0�D#%$&'% !/�7�0�8%�!*%�"#%8&��$�>�%$!&� ,5���������E��������!*& 1�'&$(�$$&� �&$�+%!!& +�;� +/�3�!�:����� !�!��+&8%���#%�$� �3;%�;% +!*��)�!&0%�)�#�(� $&'%#�!&� ��)�!*%�>�%$!&� ,�-�.)!%#�#%(�+ &!&� /�52�'�0�D#%$&'% !/�7�0�8%�!��;&0&!�'&$(�$$&� �!��!���0& �!%$�"%#�$"%�1%#,5��
46



����������	�


��
�������������������������������������������� ����!�"#��$�%�!&�!!#%'�(�)*�#+�+#&�$������,�-.�%���.�%#+���+,�/���0#����1�!�1��#�� #�2�#!�������%#*����#�3'-��
��
����������������������+#��$���!�����������4�!��1+�1�!#%���%����������#�+��� ���!�*�+���%�� ���!��$���!��� #�������'�(�)*�#+�+#&�$������,�-.�%��#��5+#!�%#��,�/���0#����1�!�1��#�� #����������%#*����#�3'-��6�7��������������������#���"+#���*�+���� ��#'�(�)*�#+�+#&�$������,�-.�%��#��.�%#+���+,�/���0#����+#&#!!�*�+��#�������#!'-��8�9�:6�;�������������� #��##���$����#�%'�(�)*�#+�+#&�$������,�-.�%��#��< ��+���,�/���0#�����%4��+�'-��
�6;���������=�>�68=�8�;���������� �0#���%#������������%��*�#+�%�!&�!!���,��+#�!�++3�3�����%#���'�(�)*�#+�+#&�$������,�-.�%���5+#!�%#��,�/��!��1#+��!!���������� %+����3�������'-��78�����6��6��6�����>���8���)��� #�"#$�����$��*�� #��##���$,�� #��$#�%����!��%�1�#%'�? #�& ��+�����!�����*�������$�� #��+%#+��*�� #��11+�0#%��$#�%�'�(�@�� ����+#&�$������,�-<����*�+��+%#+!��*�� #�%�3'-���:�
�����A�>��6:�����? #��$#�%�� �!�"##���11+�0#%���%��!�� #��##���$�1+�$+#!!#%,����"#&��#��"0���!�� ��������#��3����+#����#+#!�#%�������������&��#��1�"#*�+#��%4��+��#��'�(�)*�#+�+#&�$������,�-.�%���< ��+���,�/���0#����!�!1#�%�� #�+��#!���%���0#���#��B����1�!������C'-��
�������
�6���8��
6�D���A���? #����!#����!�%#�� #��##���$� �!�"#&��#�!��$+#���� ���3����+#� �0��$��+��"�#� #�+��$'�(�@�� ����+#&�$������,�-5������*�1#+!�����1+�0��#$#'-�(�< ��+���E�-F���#�3��+�1����'-�(�.#�"#+E�-? #+#��!�������& ����!#,�/�&��G�� #�+'-��
47



������������

	
������
�������
����������������������������������������� ������!�"�!#����$��%�����&�����!���'�#���(��!�� �����)���(�� ��)�)$����*�!!���#����"�!!����$#�&�������)����&���+�,!���#���*�������"��������&����������'�� �������+�-�,(������%��������.�/0�'�)���1 ���)��.�2�)�&��� ���*������������%�))�������(�� ��* �!�+/��3
�4�
��
56�5��2������$&������ ���� ��)��������������(�!!�*�������������!��+�-�7�� ������%��������.�/2������������������(���'��./����/8������(���'��+/��3
�4�
���4�
5�9�
4����������*��'�������$������)���(�� ��(�%�����'���'��%������.���% ����� ��$�!��%������ ���������#�* ����:���'�����������$�����'��%����'+�-�7�� ������%��������.�/8������(���(��)�����+/��3
�4�
��395��9��495;��4<=�5;����������%��(���'��$������)���(�� �����!��)�����#���!��+�-�7�� ������%��������.�/8������(����!��)�����#�������#+/��933�9���5
�����6�	�>�
4�
�����	�9�5��7�� ������%��������.�/2������!�(��)�� ��'�%�������(�� ��% ���+/��� 5?@A�	@BCCDEDFBGDHI�BIJ�5AK?DLAMAIGC��	@BCC�HE�5?@A� 5AK?DLAMAIGC�GH�9JHNG� 5AK?DLAMAIGC�GH�>?CNAIJ�1 ������ ,'����'�$#�)�O����#�&�������������&�'�$#�!�*������&���������� ����#�� 1������$��������'�'�P#!�*�� ,'����'�$#�)�)$��� ��� 1������$��������'�'�Q��%��!�R�!����(�S�'��� 8��&���������%��T�UVW�&���.������)�O����#��(��������)�)$��� ��� UVW�X����Q���'����R�!��� 0�O����#�&���� 1���$��������'�'�(�����������$#�)�O����#�&����'��������)�������0�'�(��'�R�$�����R�!����(�S�'��� ,'����'����$#!�*�� UVW�&�����
48



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 8.3
New Business
Title: Planning Commission Statement of Ethical Principals and Government Ethics -
Albermarle County Land Use Law Handbook
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Adopt the Statement of Ethical Principals.

Explanation:

Staff is recommending that the Planning Commission adopt a Code of Ethics.

Background:

The American Institute of Certified Planners (AICP) recently updated its Code of Ethics.  They have
recommended that Planning Commissions adopt a Code of Ethics as well.  Staff has drafted a code for
the Planning Commission's consideration.
 
Staff has also provided Chapter 30 of the Albermarle County Land Use Law Handbook.  This guide,
created for the benefit of their boards and commissions is used throughout the Commonwealth as a
resource for elected and appointed officials and local government staff.  This guide provides an
explanation of conflict of interest prohibited gifts, and impermissible contractual relationships.

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

PC Code of Ethical Principals 2023.pdf
Albermarle Ethics in Government.pdf

49

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1691520/PC_Code_of_Ethical_Principals_2023.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711856/Albermarle_Ethics_in_Government.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

                        

 

Planning Commission Statement of Ethical Principals 

 

The Town of Altavista Planning Commission understands the planning process must continually pursue 

and faithfully serve the public interest. As such, it has adopted a Statement of Ethical Principals which 

guides and inspires ethical decision-making for the Planning Commission when faced with controversial 

or difficult choices. It will: 

A. Serve the public interest. 

1. Recognize the rights of citizens to participate in planning decisions; 

2. Strive to give citizens (including those who lack formal organization or influence) full, clear and 

accurate information on planning issues and the opportunity to have a meaningful role in the 

development of plans and programs; 

3. Strive to expand choice and opportunity for all persons, recognizing a special responsibility to 

plan for the needs of disadvantaged groups and persons; 

4. Assist in the clarification of community goals, objectives and policies in plan-making; 

5. Ensure that reports, records and any other non-confidential information which is, or will be, 

available to decision makers is made available to the public in a convenient format and 

sufficiently in advance of any decision; 

6. Strive to protect the integrity of the natural environment and the heritage of the built 

environment; and 

7. Pay special attention to the interrelatedness of decisions and the long-range consequences of 

present actions. 

 

B. Strive to achieve high standards of integrity and proficiency so that public respect for the planning 

process will be maintained. 

1. Exercise fair, honest and independent judgment in their roles as decision makers and advisors; 

2. Make public disclosure of all "personal interests" they may have regarding any decision to be 

made in the planning process in which they serve, or are requested to serve, as advisor or 

decision maker; 

3. Define "personal interest" broadly to include any actual or potential benefits or advantages that 

they, a spouse, family member or person living in their household might directly or indirectly 

obtain from a planning decision; 

4. Abstain completely from direct or indirect participation as an advisor or decision maker in any 

matter in which they have a personal interest, and leave any chamber in which such a matter is 

50



 

 

under deliberation, unless their personal interest has been made a matter of public record; their 

employer, if any, has given approval; and the public official, public agency or court with 

jurisdiction to rule on ethics matters has expressly authorized their participation; 

5. Seek no gifts or favors, nor offer any, under circumstances in which it might reasonably be 

inferred that the gifts or favors were intended or expected to influence a participant's objectivity 

as an advisor or decision maker in the planning process; 

6. Not participate as an advisor or decision maker on any plan or project in which they have 

previously participated as an advocate; 

7. Serve as advocates only when the client's objectives are legal and consistent with the public 

interest; 

8. Not participate as an advocate on any aspect of a plan or program on which they have previously 

served as advisor or decision maker unless their role as advocate is authorized by applicable law, 

agency regulation, or ruling of an ethics officer or agency; such participation as an advocate 

should be allowed only after prior disclosure to, and approval by, their affected client or 

employer; under no circumstance should such participation commence earlier than one year 

following termination of the role as advisor or decision maker; 

9. Not use confidential information acquired in the course of their duties to further a personal 

interest; 

10. Not disclose confidential information acquired in the course of their duties except when required 

by law, to prevent a clear violation of law or to prevent substantial injury to third persons; 

provided that disclosure in the latter two situations may not be made until after verification of 

the facts and issues involved and consultation with other planning process participants to obtain 

their separate opinions; 

11. Not misrepresent facts or distort information for the purpose of achieving a desired outcome; 

12. Not participate in any matter unless adequately prepared and sufficiently capacitated to render 

thorough and diligent service; and 

13. Respect the rights of all persons and not improperly discriminate against or harass others based 

on characteristics which are protected under civil rights laws and regulations. 

 

 

Adopted:     

51



30-1 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

Chapter 30 

Ethics in Government:  
Conflicts of Interest, Prohibited Gifts, and  
Impermissible Contractual Relationships 

30-100  Introduction 

Our system of government depends in large part on the public maintaining the highest trust in their government 
officials. 2005 WL 1104519 (Va. Op. Atty. Gen.). The conduct and character of public officers and employees is of 
particular concern to state and local governments because it is chiefly through that conduct and character that the 
government’s reputation is derived. 2005 WL 1104519, supra. Like the Freedom of Information Act, public officers 
and employees must be familiar with the State and Local Government Conflict of Interests Act (Virginia Code § 2.2-
3100 et seq.) (“COIA”). A public officer is a person who holds a “public office.” “A public office is a position 
created by law, with powers and duties specified by the constitution or statute. A frequent characteristic is a fixed 
term, although not essential.” 1983-84 Va. Op. Atty. Gen. 435. The members of the governing body, the chief 
administrative officer, the locality’s attorney, and similar officers are examples of a locality’s public officers. 

The purpose of COIA is to assure the residents of the state that the judgment of public officers and employees 
will not be compromised or affected by inappropriate conflicts. Virginia Code § 2.2-3100. The Attorney General has 
stated that COIA provides minimum rules of ethical conduct for state and local government officers and employees 
and contains three general types of restrictions and prohibitions: (1) it details certain types of conduct that are 
improper for public officers and employees; (2) it restricts the ability of public officers and employees to have 
personal interests in certain contracts with their own or other governmental agencies; and (3) it restricts the 
participation of public officers and employees in transactions of their governmental agencies in which they have a 
personal interest. 2014 WL 200906 (Va. Op. Atty. Gen.). 

Summary of the Key Elements of the State and Local Government Conflicts of Interest Act 

 COIA applies to public officials having a personal interest in a transaction or a personal interest in a contract.

 A personal interest in a transaction arises from the public official’s, or an immediate family member’s, ownership of property 
or interest in a business, income, or by representing or providing services to a client who has a pending transaction. 

 A public official having a personal interest in a transaction must disclose that interest in the manner required by COIA; 
provided that a personal interest in a transaction that affects the public generally need not be disclosed.  

 A public official having a personal interest in a transaction is disqualified from participating in the transaction if the 
transaction applies solely to property or a business in which the public official has a personal interest or if no express 
exception allowing participation applies. 

 A public official having a personal interest in a transaction may participate in the transaction after disclosing the personal 
interest if one of these common exceptions apply:  

 The public official is a member of a business, profession, occupation, or group of three or more persons, the members 
of which are affected by the transaction. 

 The party to the transaction is a client of the public official’s firm but the public official does not personally represent or 
provide services to the client. 

 The acceptance of money, gifts and honoraria is prohibited by COIA. 

 Public officials believing they may have a conflict of interest should consult with the locality’s attorney and either obtain 
a written opinion from the locality’s attorney or from the Commonwealth’s Attorney, after providing a full disclosure of 
the facts; if the public official is later charged with a knowing violation, the locality’s attorney’s opinion is evidence that 
the public official did not knowingly violate COIA, the Commonwealth’s Attorney’s opinion immunizes the public 
official from prosecution.   

 A public official may not have interests in contracts with the locality or a related agency, with very limited exceptions. 

 A knowing violation of COIA is either a class 1 or class 3 misdemeanor, depending on the violation, and constitutes 
malfeasance in office; possible penalties include criminal fines and penalties and forfeiture of office.

52



30-2 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

COIA is a very technical law and the reader working in local government is advised to consult with the locality’s 
attorney for an in-depth review of the law and to receive guidance on how to proceed if and when a conflict of 
interest exists or refer the reader to the Commonwealth’s Attorney as further explained in section 30-610. A 
knowing violation of COIA is a misdemeanor (Virginia Code § 2.2-3120) and constitutes malfeasance in office 
(Virginia Code § 2.2-3122). In addition to criminal fines and penalties, a knowing violation may result in forfeiture of 
office or employment (Virginia Code § 2.2-3122), the forfeiture of the value derived from the violation, and civil 
penalties in the amount of the value derived from the violation (Virginia Code § 2.2-3124). 

30-200  Definitions of key terms 

A conflict of interest will be found to exist under COIA if the public officer or employee (collectively, “public 
official”) has a personal interest in the transaction.  

30-210 “Personal interest”  

A “personal interest” is a financial benefit or liability accruing to a public official or to a member of their immediate family. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3101. A member of the immediate family is a spouse and any other person who resides in the same 
household as the officer or employee and who is a dependent of the officer or employee. Virginia Code § 2.2-3101. A 
personal interest exists in any of the following situations: 

 Ownership in a business: Ownership in a business if the ownership interest exceeds three percent of the total 
equity of the business. 

 Income from property or business: Annual income that exceeds, or may reasonably be anticipated to exceed, 
$5,000 from ownership in real or personal property or a business. 

 Salary, compensation, benefits paid or provided by business or governmental agency: Salary, other 
compensation, fringe benefits, or benefits from the use of property, or any combination thereof, paid or 
provided by a business or governmental agency that exceeds, or may reasonably be anticipated to exceed, $5,000 
annually. 

 Ownership of property: Ownership of real or personal property, if the interest exceeds $5,000 in value and 
excluding ownership in a business, income, or salary, other compensation, fringe benefits or benefits from the 
use of property. 

 Personal liability on behalf of business: Personal liability incurred or assumed on behalf of a business if the 
liability exceeds three percent of the asset value of the business. 

 Option for ownership of business or real property: An option for ownership of a business or real or personal 
property if the ownership interest will consist of ownership in a business exceeding three percent of the total 
equity of the business or real or personal property if the interest exceeds $5,000 in value. 

A business is a corporation, partnership, sole proprietorship, firm, enterprise, franchise, association, trust or 
foundation, or any other individual or entity carrying on a business or profession, whether or not for profit. Virginia 
Code § 2.2-3101. A public official with a personal interest in a business also has a personal interest in any related 
business entity. A personal interest exists in a parent-subsidiary relationship when one corporation directly or 
indirectly owns shares possessing more than 50 percent of the voting power of another corporation. A personal 
interest exists in an affiliated business if one business has a controlling ownership interest in the other, if a 
controlling owner in one business is also a controlling owner in the other, or if there is shared management or 
control between the two businesses.  

COIA requires public officials to be keenly aware of the business interests of their partners and the ownership 
interests of any businesses in which they have a personal interest.  

53



30-3 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

30-220 “Transaction” 

A “transaction” is any matter considered by the governmental or advisory agency, whether in a committee, 
subcommittee, or other entity of the agency or before the agency itself, on which official action is taken or 
contemplated. Virginia Code § 2.2-3101. Thus, under COIA, a transaction is any matter before the locality for which 
official action will or may be taken (e.g., review and approval of any type of application) by the governing body, the 
planning commission, or any other public body, or any public officer or employee.  

For example, in the realm of land use approvals, the types of matters that would be a transaction under COIA 
range from an applicant-initiated zoning map amendment down to a building permit, and everything in between. In 
the situation where a public official has provided representation or services, the transaction need not necessarily be 
the matter for which the public official or member of their immediate family provided the representation or services 
to the client. See section 30-400. 

COIA applies to a public official only to the extent that the transaction is or might be considered by the 
governmental agency or other public body for which the public official is a member. For example, COIA does not 
disqualify a member of the board of zoning appeals (“BZA”) from representing a client in a zoning map amendment 
before the planning commission or the governing body because the BZA would never take official action on the 
zoning map amendment. Members of the governing body must be much more cautious because the governing body 
represents the locality as a whole, and it may consider almost every matter may at some point.       

30-230 “Personal interest in a transaction” 

A “personal interest in a transaction” is the personal interest of a public official in any matter considered by 
their agency. Virginia Code § 2.2-3101. A personal interest in a transaction exists when a public official or a member 
of his immediate family has a personal interest in property or a business, or represents an individual or business and 
the property, business or represented individual or business: (1) is the subject of the transaction; or (2) may realize a 
reasonably foreseeable direct or indirect benefit or detriment because of the action of the agency considering the 
transaction. Virginia Code § 2.2-3101. 

30-300  Applicable rules when a personal interest in a Transaction Exists 

If a personal interest in a transaction exists, a public official is not automatically prohibited from participating in 
the transaction. The table below provides a summary of several typical situations when a public official will need to 
determine whether a conflict of interest exists under COIA, and whether disclosure or disclosure and 
disqualification are required.  

Situations When a Public Official Must Determine Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists  

Relationship Personal Interest Disclose and Disqualify or Merely Disclose 
Official has an 
interest in a 
business 

Personal interest if the 
official’s interest is more 
than 3% of the total equity 
of the business 

 Disqualified if the transaction applies solely to the business (e.g., it is the 
subject of the application) or no other exception applies  

 Must only disclose if the transaction affects a group of 3 or more (e.g., 
neighboring business is the applicant; official’s business is in the 
neighborhood) 

Official receives 
annual income 
from ownership 
in real or personal 
property or a 
business 

Personal interest if the 
official’s annual income 
exceeds, or may be 
reasonably anticipated to 
exceed, $5,000 (e.g., receives 
$11,000 in stock dividends 
from business) 

 Disqualified if the transaction applies solely to the property or business 
(e.g., it is the subject of the application) or no other exception applies.  

 Must only disclose if the transaction affects a group of 3 or more (e.g., 
neighboring business is the applicant; official’s property or business is 
in the neighborhood) 

54



30-4 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

Situations When a Public Official Must Determine Whether a Conflict of Interest Exists  

Relationship Personal Interest Disclose and Disqualify or Merely Disclose 
Official receives 
salary, other 
compensation, 
fringe benefits, or 
benefits from the 
use of property 
paid by business 
or government 

Personal interest if the 
official’s salary, 
compensation or benefits 
exceeds, or may be 
reasonably anticipated to 
exceed, $5,000 (e.g., receives 
$15,000 in salary and $2,000 
in fringe benefits from 
business) 

 Disqualified if the transaction applies solely to the business (e.g., it is the 
applicant) or no other exception applies  

 Must only disclose if the transaction affects a group of 3 or more (e.g., 
neighboring business is the applicant; official’s business is in the 
neighborhood) 

Ownership of  
real property, not 
addressed above 

Personal interest if the 
interest in the real property 
exceeds $5,000 (e.g., official 
owns a house valued at 
$400,000) 

 Disqualified if the transaction applies solely to the real property (e.g., it 
is the subject of the application) or no other exception applies 

 Must only disclose if the transaction affects a group of 3 or more (e.g., a 
neighboring landowner is the applicant; official’s real property is in the 
neighborhood) 

Official 
represents or 
provides services 
to applicant 

Personal interest by virtue 
of representation or 
providing services 

 Disqualified, including where the public official previously represented 
or provided services to the applicant on the matter, or where the public 
official currently represents or provides services to the applicant on 
other matters 

Official’s firm  
represents or 
provides services 
to applicant 

Personal interest by virtue 
of firm representation or 
providing services   

 Disclosure (but not disqualification) required if the official never 
provided services to the applicant 

 Lawyers and other professionals must be aware of ethical restrictions 
that may still require higher conflict standards 

The rules in sections 30-310, 30-320, 30-330, and 30-340 determine whether the public official must disclose the 
interest and disqualify, or merely disclose the interest.  

Disqualification means that the public official may not participate in the discussion leading to a vote or decision. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(A). Disqualification also means that the public official may neither attend a closed meeting 
regarding the transaction nor discuss the matter with other governmental officers or employees at any time. Virginia 
Code § 2.2-3112(A). In other words, the disqualified public official should not have any contact with any other public 
officials, including staff, regarding the matter that creates the conflict. 

A disclosure must be in writing and must: (1) identify the transaction involved; (2) state the existence of the 
interest; and (3) state the full name and address of the business and the address or parcel number for the real 
property if the interest involves a business or real property. Virginia Code § 2.2-3115(F). The disclosure form must be 
retained in the public records of the agency for five years in the office of the administrative head of the public body. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3115(F). Proper disclosure by a public official includes affirmatively stating that even though they 
have a personal interest in the transaction, they can participate in the transaction fairly, objectively, and in the public 
interest. If the public official is unable to make that declaration, they should consider whether it is appropriate not to 
participate in the matter to avoid an appearance of impropriety, even though they do not have a conflict of interest 
requiring disqualification under COIA. See section 30-800 regarding avoiding the appearance of impropriety.

30-310 Disclosure and disqualification are required if the transaction affects solely the property or 
business in which the official has a personal interest 

A public official is disqualified from participating in a transaction and must publicly disclose that interest if the 
transaction affects solely the property or business in which the public official has a personal interest. Virginia Code § 
2.2-3112(A).

55



30-5 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

Example 1: A public official is a member of the planning commission whose ownership is 7% of 
the total equity of a business that has filed an application for a rezoning. The planning 
commissioner has a personal interest in the transaction, is disqualified from participating in the 
transaction, and must disclose the interest in writing. 

A public official is disqualified from participating in a transaction and must publicly disclose that interest if no 
exceptions apply. Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(A).

30-320 Disclosure, but not disqualification, is required if the public official is a member of a group of 
three or more affected by the transaction  

A public official may participate in a transaction if they are a member of a business, profession, occupation, or 
group of three or more persons, the members of which are affected by the transaction, and the interest is disclosed. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(B)(1). 

Example 2: A public official is a member of the board of appeals and the transaction is an appeal of 
a decision of the building official to be considered by the board of appeals within the member’s 
neighborhood. The appeal could affect the value of the member’s property by more than $5,000. 
The board of appeals member is a member of a group of three or more persons owning land in 
proximity to the parcel that is the subject of the transaction and may participate in the transaction if 
she makes the required disclosure. 

The disclosure may be either oral or in writing and must: (1) identify the transaction involved; (2) identify the 
nature of the personal interest affected by the transaction; (3) state that the public official is a member of a business, 
profession, occupation, or group the members of which are affected by the transaction; and (4) state that she is able 
to participate in the transaction fairly, objectively, and in the public interest. Virginia Code § 2.2-3115(H). The 
recommended practice is to make these disclosures in writing. If the public official is unable to make the statements 
in the declaration of interest without reservation, they should not participate in the matter and disqualify themself 
from participating. The disclosure form must be retained in the public records of the agency for five years in the 
office of the administrative head of the public body. Virginia Code § 2.2-3115(H). 

30-330  Neither disqualification nor disclosure is required if the transaction affects the public generally 

A public official may participate in a transaction if it affects the public generally, even though the public 
official’s personal interest, as a member of the public, may also be affected by the transaction. Virginia Code § 2.2-
3112(B)(3). 

Example 3: A public official is a member of the architectural review board (“ARB”) and the ARB is 
considering architectural guidelines for structures along designated highways. The ARB member 
owns a parcel along one of the designated highways having a value of $65,000 and the parcel would 
be subject to the guidelines. Because the architectural guidelines would apply to the public 
generally, the ARB member may participate in the transaction.  

There are no disclosure requirements for this exception. 

 30-340 Depending on the circumstances, disclosure, disqualification, or both, may be required when 
the public official or their firm represents or provides services to a client who is a party to a 
transaction

In the context of this section, a personal interest in a transaction exists when a public official or a member of their 
immediate family, or a member of their firm represents or provides services to any individual or business (“client”) and 
the property, business, or individual: (1) is the subject of the transaction; or (2) may realize a reasonably foreseeable 
direct or indirect benefit or detriment as a result of the action of the agency considering the transaction. Virginia 
Code § 2.2-3101. Under this situation, a personal interest in a transaction arises regardless of whether the representation or the 

56



30-6 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

services pertain to the matter that will or may be considered by the public body. 

The terms represent and provide services are not defined in COIA, so they are given their commonly understood 
meanings. “Represent” means to “act the part of, in the place of, or for (another person) usu. by legal right,” 
Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (2002), or to “function as the official and authorized delegate or agent” for 
someone else or to “act as a spokesperson for” someone else. Webster’s II New Riverside University Dictionary (1994). 
Accountants, attorneys, engineers, civil engineers, surveyors, architects, landscape architects, planners and other 
professionals often represent clients on matters pending before a public body by, among other things, acting as the 
client’s spokesperson at meetings or in discussions with individual public officials. “Provide services” means to 
“provide information or other assistance” to another. Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (2002) (definition of 
“service”). A wide range of professionals also may provide services to clients who have matters pending before a 
public body of a locality. Public officials must be aware that a conflict of interest arises by merely providing services 
to a client, regardless of whether they are also representing the client before the locality.  

Because COIA fails to define “represent” or “provide services,” there may be some ambiguity as to when a 
public official is representing or providing services to a third party, and not merely assisting the third party in their 
official capacity. At the very least, some kind of working relationship is required between the public official and the 
client in order for COIA to apply. There may be occasions when the distinctions between providing services and 
providing information may blur, in which case an attorney should be consulted (See section 30-600).  

The term “firm” also is not defined in COIA so it is given its commonly understood meaning. “Firm” in this 
context means “a partnership of two or more persons not recognized as a legal person distinct from the members 
composing it,” or “a business unit or enterprise.” Webster’s Third New International Dictionary (2002). Consistent with 
the liberal interpretation to be given COIA, the term “firm” covers an array of business entities involving two or 
more persons.  

The following examples illustrate situations when a public official is representing or providing services to a 
client.  

Example 4: A planning commissioner who is an architect and is hired to design a house for a 
landowner in an abutting locality. The landowner is also an applicant for a special use permit for a 
commercial use on a separate, commercially zoned parcel in the locality. The commissioner has a 
personal interest in the transaction and is disqualified from participating in the transaction – the 
special use permit – because of the architectural services provided to the landowner. 

Example 5: A locality’s employee assists a friend in filling out the form for appealing a decision of 
the zoning administrator to the BZA. The employee assists the friend for no charge. The employee 
would likely not have a personal interest in the transaction and would not be disqualified under 
COIA because the assistance was not provided in the context of a working relationship. 

The following example illustrates a situation when a public official has a conflict of interest because of the work 
of a member of the public official’s immediate family. 

Example 6: The adult child of a member of the board of supervisors has recently moved back 
home to save money and has joined a new partnership engaged in land planning, owning 10% of 
the partnership’s total equity, of which there is little. The adult child is a dependent of the 
supervisor. The supervisor’s child is assisting another planner in the firm on a proposed 
comprehensive plan amendment for a proposed project in the county. The supervisor has a 
personal interest in the transaction – the comprehensive plan amendment – because the child 
resides in the supervisor’s residence and is a dependent of the supervisor.       

Note that the supervisor in Example 6 would also have a personal interest in a transaction on any project in the 
county proposed by the planning firm’s client, even if the supervisor’s adult child assisted the planner only on a 
project for the planning firm’s client that would be in an abutting locality.  

57



30-7 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

These rules require public officials to not only be aware of their own activities, but also those of their spouses 
and other members of the immediate family. Note also that when a personal interest arises from representing or 
providing services, a personal interest in a transaction exists regardless of the amount of income or other financial benefit 
received for the representation or services, i.e., the $5,000 income or ownership interest thresholds that apply to 
other personal interests under COIA do not apply where representation or the provision of services is the issue.  

Common Situations Where a Public Official Represents or Provides Services to a Client 

Situation 
Disqualification 
and Disclosure, 

or Only 
Disclosure 

Key Factors Other 

The public official 
(or a member of their 
immediate family) 
represents or 
provides services to a 
client who is a party 
to the transaction  

Disqualification and 
disclosure 

Because the client, not the transaction, is the 
critical factor, disqualification is required even 
if: 

 The representation or services pertain to a 
matter outside of the locality 

 The representation or services were 
provided before any application was filed 
with the locality 

 The public official is no longer representing 
or providing services to the client of the 
firm on the matter 

 In their public capacity, the 
public official is disqualified 
from participating in the 
transaction  

 In their private capacity as a 
representative or service 
provider to a client, the public 
official is prohibited from 
discussing the matter with 
other public officials at any 
time 

The party to the 
transaction is a client 
of the public official’s 
(or a member of their 
immediate family’s) 
firm but the public 
official does not 
personally represent 
or provide services to 
the client 

Disclosure Because the client, not the transaction, is the 
critical factor: 

 The exception requiring disclosure but not 
disqualification of the public official does 
not apply if the public official previously 
represented or provided services to the 
client regarding the matter 

 The exception requiring disclosure but not 
disqualification of the public official does 
not apply if the public official currently 
represents the client on other matters 

 The term “firm” is not 
defined in COIA; its common 
meaning is a “commercial 
partnership of two or more 
persons” 

 Public officials who are 
attorneys, architects, 
engineers, and other 
professionals should be aware 
that their profession’s own 
ethical standards may require 
a higher standard of conduct 

Disqualified public 
employees may 
represent themselves 
or family members  

Disclosure   Employee may not receive compensation for 
services 

Applies only to employees 

 30-341   Disclosure and disqualification are required if the public official represents or provides 
services to a client who is a party to the transaction  

Subject to the two circumstances noted in sections 30-342 and 30-343 below, if a public official, or a member of 
their immediate family, represents or provides services to a client, the public official is disqualified from participating 
in any transaction pertaining to that client. The following examples illustrate some of the effects of this requirement.  

Example 7: A city official who is an engineer is hired to represent an applicant for a subdivision 
plat and seeks to meet with city staff over the requirements of the city’s subdivision ordinance and 
the possibility of obtaining exceptions to certain requirements. The city official has a personal 
interest in the transaction and may not have any discussions with city officials or employees and 
may not meet with city staff to discuss the subdivision or send any writings discussing the 
subdivision. 

Example 8: A county employee’s spouse is an attorney who provided legal services to an applicant 
on a rezoning application before the rezoning application being filed. The county employee has a 

58



30-8 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

personal interest in the transaction – the rezoning application – and must not participate in any way 
in the review of the application or discuss the rezoning with any county officer or employee. In 
addition, the county employee has a personal interest in all other transactions pertaining to the 
applicant that are pending, or that may be pending, before the county.                 

The consequences arising from these types of conflicts apply whether the public official’s role is 
characterized as being in a public capacity (e.g., as a public official) or in a private capacity (e.g., as a 
representative or service provider to a private client). In their public capacity, the public official is disqualified 
from participating in the transaction. Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(A). In their private capacity as a representative 
or service provider to a client, the public official is prohibited from discussing the matter with other public 
officials at any time. Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(A). Prohibited discussions include both oral and written 
communications, regardless of the formality of the communication, the setting of the discussion, or the 
substance of the communication itself, so long as it pertains to the matter. The disqualified officials should 
be notified that they may not discuss the matter with any other public officials and that another person 
must represent the applicant on the matter in discussions with the locality’s staff or in front of any public 
body of the locality.  

Example 9: A member of the board of supervisors is an architect in a solo practice. A bank desires 
to locate a new branch in the county and hires the supervisor to perform architectural services. 
Before the site plan is filed with the county, the bank hires an engineering firm to represent the 
bank, complete and submit an initial site plan, and act as the bank’s contact person. The site plan 
will be reviewed and approved administratively by county staff. By providing services to the bank, 
the Supervisor may not meet with county staff to discuss the site plan or send any writings 
discussing the site plan. In addition, the supervisor has a personal interest in all other transactions 
pertaining to the bank that are pending, or that may be pending, before the county.             

In Example 9, if discussions with county staff are going to take place on the matter, the supervisor must have 
somebody else communicate with staff. 

Because a transaction includes any matter on which official action is taken or contemplated (Virginia Code § 2.2-
3101), the transaction, as well as the disqualification and resulting prohibition on participation, may begin long 
before the matter is officially before the locality (e.g., by filing an application). Thus, a public official who represents 
or provides services to a client is prohibited from contacting the locality’s public officials to discuss ideas, solicit 
preliminary feedback or the locality’s receptiveness to a proposal, or participate in a pre-application conference, even 
before an application is filed. 

2-342 Disclosure, but not disqualification, is required if the party to the transaction is a client of 
the public official’s firm and the public official does not personally represent or provide 
services to the client 

A public official whose firm represents or provides services to a client has a personal interest in a transaction. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(B)(2). However, if the public official does not personally represent or provide services to the 
client, only disclosure, but not disqualification, is required. Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(B)(2). If the public official 
previously represented or provided services to the client regarding the matter, or currently represents the client on 
other matters, the public official is disqualified from participating in the transaction. In addition, recall that the 
representation or services provided to a client by a member of the public official’s immediate family is imputed to 
the public official, so even though the public official did not personally represent or provide services to the client, 
the public official is disqualified.   

Example 10: A member of the city council is an attorney in a local three-member law firm. A 
developer is a client of the firm, but the councilor does not personally represent the developer on 
its special use permit application, never provided services to the developer on the application, and 
does not represent the developer on any other matters. The councilor must disclose the 
relationship but is not disqualified from participating in the special use permit matter or any other 

59



30-9 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

matter of the developer when it comes to the city council and may discuss the matter with other 
city officers or employees.  

Example 11: A member of the architectural review board (“ARB”) is an architect in a local four-
member architectural firm. A local car dealership desires to update its buildings and the ARB 
member prepares some preliminary architectural drawings. The project is then assigned to another 
architect in the firm. Two months later, a site plan amendment is filed with the locality. By 
previously providing services to the car dealership on the transaction, the ARB member is 
disqualified from participating in the site plan or any other matter of the car dealership pending 
before the locality, regardless of whether the filed site plan does not rely on the preliminary 
architectural drawings prepared by the ARB member.          

Attorneys and other professionals should be aware that their own profession’s ethical requirements may require 
a higher standard of conduct and that compliance with COIA may not satisfy their profession’s standards.  

The disclosure may be either oral or in writing and must: (1) identify the transaction involved; (2) state that a 
party to the transaction is a client of the public official’s firm; (3) state that the public official does not personally 
represent or provide services to the client and has never done so; and (4) state that the public official is able to 
participate in the transaction fairly, objectively, and in the public interest. Virginia Code § 2.2-3115(I). Public officials 
unable to make the statements in the declaration of interest without reservation should not participate in the matter 
and disqualify themselves from participating in the transaction. The disclosure form must be retained in the public 
records of the agency for five years in the office of the administrative head of the public body. Virginia Code § 2.2-
3115(I). 

2-343 Employees who would otherwise be disqualified may represent themselves or a member of 
their immediate family in the transaction if they receive no compensation 

Public employees who have a personal interest in a transaction and would otherwise be disqualified from 
participating in the transaction may represent themselves or a member of their immediate family in a transaction, 
provided the employee does not receive compensation for the representation and complies with the applicable 
disqualification and disclosure requirements of COIA. Virginia Code § 2.2-3112(C). This exception applies only to 
employees and does not apply to officers. 

30-400 Prohibited interests in contracts 

COIA prohibits members of a locality’s governing body and all other public officials and employees from 
having certain interests in the contracts of the locality.  

30-410 Members of governing bodies 

Virginia Code § 2.2-3107 prohibits members of governing bodies from having a personal interest in any contract with 
the governing body, any governmental agency that is a component part of the locality and subject to the control of 
the governing body, or any contract other than any governmental agency if the governing body appoints a majority 
of its members to the second governmental agency.  

There are three exceptions pertaining to: (1) a contract of employment if the member of the governing body 
was employed by the locality before July 1, 1983 in accordance with the former Conflict of Interests Act or the 
employment began before the member of the governing body joined the governing body; (2) a contract for the sale 
of goods or services by a governmental agency at uniform prices available to the public; and (3) a contract awarded 
to a member of the governing body as a result of competitive sealed bidding, subject to certain restrictions and 
requirements.   

60



30-10 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

30-420 All other officers and employees 

Virginia Code § 2.2-3109 prohibits all other public officers and employees of a locality from having a personal interest 
in any contract with the agency of which they are an officer or employee other than their own contract of 
employment. In addition, Virginia Code § 2.2-3109 prohibits all other public officers and employees of the locality 
from having a personal interest in any contract with any other governmental agency that is a component of the 
locality’s government unless the contract is awarded as a result of competitive sealed bidding or competitive 
negotiation under the Virginia Public Procurement Act, is awarded under a procedure embodying competitive 
principles as authorized under the Virginia Public Procurement Act, or is awarded after a finding by the 
administrative head of the governmental agency that competitive bidding or negotiation is contrary to the best 
interest of the public.  

There are numerous exceptions in Virginia Code §§ 2.2-3109, 2.2-3109.1 (contracts related to hospital 
authorities) and 2.2-3110, including those for: (1) certain personal interests of employees in contracts for goods or 
services or of employment contracts that accrue to the employee because of a member of their immediate family, 
provided the employee does not exercise certain control; (2) an officer’s or employee’s personal interest in an 
employment contract with any other governmental agency that is a component part of the locality; (3) contracts for 
the sale of goods or services by a governmental agency at uniform prices available to the public; (4) contracts for the 
sale, lease, or exchange of real property between the locality and the public officer or employee; and (5) contracts for 
goods and services when the contract does not exceed $500. 

30-500  Prohibited acceptance of gifts, personal benefits, money, and other things 
of value 

COIA prohibits public officials or members of their immediate families from engaging in a range of conduct by 
which the person subject to the Act receives a variety of things of value. 

30-510 Gifts 

Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1 prohibits public officials or members of their immediate families from soliciting, 
accepting, or receiving any single gift with a value in excess of $100 or any combination of gifts with an aggregate 
value in excess of $100 within any calendar year for themselves or members of their immediate family from any 
person that they, or a member of their immediate family, know or have reason to know is: (1) a registered lobbyist; 
(2) a lobbyist’s principal; or (3) a person, organization, or business who is or is seeking to become a party to a 
contract with the locality of which the public official is an officer or employee. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(B). Gifts 
with a value of less than $20 are not subject to aggregation. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(B). Four key exceptions apply 
to local public officials: 

 Gifts composed of food, beverages, entertainment, cost of admission: Public officials or members of their 
immediate families may accept or receive a gift of food and beverages, entertainment, or the cost of admission 
with a value more than $100 when the gift is accepted or received while in attendance at a “widely attended 
event” and is associated with the event. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(D). A “widely attended event” is an “event at 
which at least 25 persons have been invited to attend or there is a reasonable expectation that at least 25 persons 
will attend the event and the event is open to individuals who are: (i) members of a public, civic, charitable, or 
professional organization, (ii) who are from a particular industry or profession, or (iii) who represent persons 
interested in a particular issue.” Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(A). These gifts must be reported on the disclosure 
form prescribed by Virginia Code § 2.2-3117. Note that offers of a ticket, coupon, or other admission or pass is 
not a gift unless it is used; also note that “attendance at a reception or similar function where food, such as hors 
d’oeuvres, and beverages that can be conveniently consumed by a person while standing or walking are 
offered,” is not a gift. Virginia Code § 2.2-3101 (definition of “gift”). 

 Gifts from foreign dignitaries: Public officials or members of their immediate family may accept or receive a gift 
from a foreign dignitary with a value exceeding $100 for which the fair market value or a gift of greater or equal 

61



30-11 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

value has not been provided or exchanged. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(E). The gift must be accepted on behalf of 
the locality and archived in accordance with guidelines established by the Library of Virginia. These gifts must 
be disclosed as having been accepted on behalf of the locality, but the value of the gift is not required to be 
disclosed. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(E). 

 Gifts from lobbyists, lobbyist’s principals, or persons seeking contracts who are also personal friends: Public 
officials or a member of their immediate family may accept or receive certain gifts with a value in excess of $100 
from a registered lobbyist, lobbyist’s principal, or person seeking a contract with the locality if the gift was made 
on the basis of a personal friendship. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(F). Whether the donor is a personal friend will 
be evaluated by these factors: (1) the circumstances under which the gift was offered; (2) the history of the 
relationship between the public official and the donor, including the nature and length of the friendship and any 
previous exchange of gifts between them; (3) to the extent known to the public official, whether the donor 
personally paid for the gift or sought a tax deduction or business reimbursement for the gift; and (4) whether 
the donor has given the same or similar gifts to other persons required to file the disclosure form prescribed in 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3117. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(F). 

 Gifts of travel and related expenses from lobbyists, lobbyist’s principals, or persons seeking contracts: Public 
officials or members of their immediate family may accept or receive gifts of travel, including travel-related 
transportation, lodging, hospitality, food or beverages, or other thing of value, with a value in excess of $100 
paid for or provided by a registered lobbyist, lobbyist’s principal, or person seeking a contract with the locality 
when the public official has submitted a request for approval of the travel to the Virginia Conflict of Interest 
and Ethics Advisory Council and has received the approval of the Council pursuant to Virginia Code § 30-356.1. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(G). These gifts must be reported on the disclosure form prescribed in Virginia Code § 
2.2-3117. Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(G). 

Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.2 provides that a person will not be in violation of any provision prohibiting the 
acceptance of gifts if: (1) “the gift is not used by such person and the gift or its equivalent in money is returned to 
the donor or delivered to a charitable organization within a reasonable period of time upon the discovery of the 
value of the gift and is not claimed as a charitable contribution for federal income tax purposes”; or (2) 
“consideration is given by the donee to the donor for the value of the gift within a reasonable period of time upon 
the discovery of the value of the gift provided that such consideration reduces the value of the gift to an amount not 
in excess of $100 as provided in” Virginia Code § 2.2-3103.1(B) or (C). 

30-520 Personal benefits, money, and other things of value 

Virginia Code § 2.2-3103 et seq. prohibits a range of conduct in which a public officer or employee (“public 
official”) obtains personal benefits, money, gifts, and other things of value: 

 Soliciting or accepting money or other thing of value for services: Except for special benefits authorized by law, 
a public official may not solicit or accept money or other things of value for services performed within the 
scope of the public official’s official duties, except the compensation, expenses, or other remuneration paid by 
the locality. 

 Offering or accepting money or other thing of value for employment, appointment, or promotion: A public 
official may not offer or accept money or any other thing of value in consideration of obtaining employment, 
appointment, or promotion of any person with any governmental or advisory agency. 

 Offering or accepting money or other thing of value to use position for contract purposes: A public official may 
not offer or accept any money or other thing of value for or in consideration of the use of the public official’s 
position to obtain a contract for any person or business with any governmental or advisory agency. 

 Using confidential information for personal or another’s gain: A public official may not use for the public 
official’s own economic benefit, or that of another party, confidential information which was acquired by reason 
of the public position and which is not available to the public. 

62



30-12 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

 Accepting money or other benefit that may influence performance: A public official may not accept any money, 
loan, gift, favor, service, or business or professional opportunity that reasonably tends to influence the public 
official’s performance of official duties. This rule does not apply to any political contribution actually used for 
political campaign or constituent service purposes and reported as required by Virginia Code § 24.2-900 et seq. 

 Accepting an opportunity that may influence performance: A public official may not accept any business or 
professional opportunity knowing that there is a reasonable likelihood that the opportunity is being afforded to 
influence the public official’s performance of official duties. 

 Accepting honoraria: A public official may not accept any honoraria for any appearance, speech, or article in 
which the public official provides expertise or opinions related to the public official’s performance of official 
duties. The term honoraria does not include any payment for or reimbursement to a public official for actual 
travel, lodging, or subsistence expenses incurred in connection with the appearance, speech, or article or, in the 
alternative, a payment of money or anything of value not in excess of the per diem deduction allowable under 
section 162 of the Internal Revenue Code.  

 Accepting a gift where its timing and nature question impartiality: A public official may not accept a gift from a 
person who has interests that may be substantially affected by the public official’s performance of official duties 
under circumstances where the timing and nature of the gift would cause a reasonable person to question the 
public official’s impartiality in the matter affecting the donor.  

 Accepting gifts frequently as to raise appearance of impropriety: A public official may not accept gifts from 
sources on a basis so frequently as to raise an appearance that the public official is using the office for private 
gain.  

 Retaliating against a person for expressing views on matters of public concerns or for exercising protected 
rights: A public official may not use his public position to retaliate or threaten to retaliate against any person for 
expressing views on matters of public concern or for exercising any right that is otherwise protected by law. 
However, this prohibition does not restrict the authority of any public employer to govern the conduct of its 
employees, and to take disciplinary action, in accordance with applicable law, and does not limit the authority of 
a constitutional officer to discipline or discharge an employee with or without cause. 

Each of these prohibitions will be liberally construed to apply as broadly as reasonable under the circumstances. 

30-600  Obtaining an opinion as to whether a conflict of interest exists 

A public official should review pending matters and agenda materials for possible conflicts of interest and then 
request an opinion as to whether a conflict exists. If the public official believes that a conflict of interest may exist, 
the public official should contact the locality’s attorney so that it is aware of the possible conflict, provide advice, 
refer the public official elsewhere, and, if necessary, prepare a required disclosure statement before the matter is 
considered.  

30-610 Request an advisory opinion from the locality’s attorney, the Commonwealth’s Attorney, or the 
Virginia Conflict of Interest and Ethics Advisory Council 

A public official who believes that a conflict of interest may exist should make a written request for an advisory 
opinion from the locality’s attorney (Virginia Code § 2.2-3121(B)) or the Commonwealth’s Attorney (Virginia Code § 
2.2-3126(B)), or for a formal opinion or written informal advice from the Virginia Conflict of Interest and Ethics 
Advisory Council (“Council”) (Virginia Code § 30-356(5)).  

A public official who relies in good faith on the written opinion of the Commonwealth’s Attorney or the formal 
opinion or written informal advice of the Council is immune from prosecution for a knowing violation of COIA, 
regardless of whether the opinion is later withdrawn, provided the alleged violation occurred before the opinion was 
withdrawn. Virginia Code § 2.2-3121(B).  

63



30-13 
The Albemarle County Land Use Law Handbook 

Kamptner/March 2022 

A public official who relies on the written opinion of the locality’s attorney, and is prosecuted for a knowing 
violation of COIA, may introduce a copy of the opinion at trial as evidence that the public official did not knowingly 
violate COIA. Virginia Code § 2.2-3121(C). 

 The public official should disclose all of the facts in writing to the locality’s attorney, the Commonwealth’s 
Attorney, or the Council. It also is important that the opinion request be made in sufficient advance of the public 
official’s participation in the matter to allow adequate time for the matter to be thoroughly reviewed and the opinion 
to be written. Finally, if the public official will participate in the matter based on the advisory opinion, the official 
should have the written opinion before participating.  

30-620 Request the Attorney General to review Commonwealth’s Attorney opinion, and judicial review 

If the opinion given by the Commonwealth’s Attorney indicates that the facts would violate COIA, the public 
official affected by the opinion may request the Attorney General to review the opinion. Virginia Code § 2.2-3126(B). 
A conflicting opinion by the Attorney General acts to revoke the opinion of the Commonwealth’s Attorney. Virginia 
Code § 2.2-3126(B).  

Regardless of whether an opinion of the Commonwealth’s Attorney or the Attorney General has been requested 
and rendered, any person has the right to seek a declaratory judgment or other judicial relief as provided by law. 
Virginia Code § 2.2-3126(B). 

30-700  Penalties for a knowing violation of COIA 

A knowing violation of COIA has serious consequences. A knowing violation is either a Class 1 or a Class 3 
misdemeanor, depending on the section of COIA violated, and constitutes malfeasance in office. Virginia Code §§ 
2.2-3120, 2.2-3122. In addition to criminal fines and penalties, a knowing violation may result in forfeiture of the 
office or employment, the forfeiture of the value derived from the violation, and civil penalties in the amount of the 
value derived from the violation. Virginia Code §§ 2.2-3122, 2.2-3124(A). There also are civil penalties of $250 for 
failing to timely file a disclosure form. Virginia Code § 2.2-3126(B).  

30-800  Avoiding the Appearance of Impropriety Even Though a Conflict of 
Interest Requiring Disqualification does not Exist under COIA 

COIA does not address all conflicts of interest. There may be circumstances when a public official’s interest in a 
transaction may not be a conflict under COIA, but which may lend itself to an appearance of impropriety. These 
situations may arise, for example, when a party to a transaction is a personal friend, a family member who is not a 
member of the immediate family as defined under COIA, or is a club or other organization to which the public 
official is a member, but does not have the requisite ownership interest to trigger COIA. In those cases, it is 
incumbent upon the public official to determine whether participating in the transaction presents an appearance of 
impropriety. 2005 WL 1104519 (Va. Op. Atty. Gen.). 

In determining whether an appearance of impropriety exists, the public official should consider: (1) whether the 
appearance of a conflict is unacceptable; and (2) whether the appearance of a conflict will affect the confidence of 
the public in the public official’s ability to impartially perform duties. 2005 WL 1104519 (Va. Op. Atty. Gen.). If 
either of these elements is present, the public official should seriously consider abstaining from participating in the 
matter. At the same time, however, a public official, particularly an elected public official, should not hastily abstain 
from a matter.  

64



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 8.4
New Business
Title: Discretionary Land Use Decisions, Ex Parte Communication, and Freedom of Information
Act 
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Receive information from staff.

Explanation:

To aid the Planning Commission in its work, staff is providing Appendix D from the Albermarle
County Land Use Law Handbook to provide a guide to Planning Commissioners in forming decisions
on land use application.
 
 

Background:

Over the past two (2) years there has been a transition in the Planning Commission with new members
being appointed.  To assist the current and new Planning Commissioner, staff is proving guidance on
tools the Planning Commissioners should use to make land use decisions.
 
Staff has created a document to explain Ex Parte Communications to the Planning Commissioners to
aid in their work.
 
For the benefit of new members and a refresher to seasoned members, staff will provide a short
overview of the Virginia Freedom of Information Act.

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

Albermarle Approach to Discretionary Land Use Decisions.pdf
Ex-Parte Communications.pdf
FOIAGuideForMembersPublicBodies.pdf

65

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711837/Albermarle_Approach_to_Discretionary_Land_Use_Decisions.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711836/Ex-Parte_Communications.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711832/FOIAGuideForMembersPublicBodies.pdf


���� �����	
���	��������������������������
����������������� !  �

"##$%&'(�)�"%�"##*+,-.�/+�0,1'%2�,�)'3-*$/'+%,*4�5,%&�63$�)$-'3'+%�� �����7�7����������������	�8��9����:�7����79������7�����:��������	�������	�;����9���������������	7��
	�������������������������7�7��<���7��������7=���;7����������������������������7�7��<�>?�@A/�/.$�,##B'-,/'+%�'%�'/3�#*+#$*�-+%/$(/�� C��7����79�7�D������������9��������	7���7���������;7��:���������
�D7������D��78����������D����7�������������7		�7����79�������	�;��������7�	�;����7�����<�E���=���	�:�79����	���7�D�����7��7���7������7��7�D����8��7�D:���������������������	7�7���7������	���	7��F�����������7;���	����7		��	�����
7D��	�:�����������DD������������797���7��������������	7���7�����������	���		�������	7������
�����7�;��:������������;����	����9��7����7���7��������������	7�7���������	7��:�����������������7�7����7		�
��������������7����������D�;��7�D�
���<�G���������������:�79������	���7�D�����7��7���7������7��7�D�����
�7;7�7����	��:�������	��7�����7��������������	������7�97��������7�7�����H�7��������9�������
�7;7�7�����7�����:��������������7;���	���7��7�	�;���:��������������	7�������7����7���:����������	���7�D�����7��7�����������7����7����������������	���79�7�����7�97��������7�7�����H�7������<�I?�J&$%/'K4�/.$�*$B$L,%/�#+B'-'$3M�3/,%&,*&3M�,%&�K,-/3�� �������99����������	��7����79�������	�;������	7�7������������������������	����������7��	�����7�7��<�������	7�7����������������������	��D�7����������7�7��:�
����	��������7��������9������7		�
���	�;������7�	�;���<��7����7�D�����7�	�;����9��������	�;����7��������7�	<�C������:�����;�:���������������
������7��������
���	�;���������	�D7�	��7;�����7�7���������8��7�D���������7�	��������7�����	7���7��:�7���7D�797����	��
���������������7���	�;����������7�7���7�	����7�7����������
�7;7�7����	������7����	��<��N?�O,%1�/.$�#+B'-'$3M�'K�,##B'-,PB$�� Q��������7��7�D�	�D7�	��7;�����7����7�����������������7���������	7�7���7���������������7;���	����������	�:��������������������7�����7�����	7�7�������	����;�7	��;���������	7�7���79������������9	7����
�����������<�����9�		�:�������	7�7���7���������������7;���	����������7�����		��7�����7�����<�R;���79������������:������������7������D7;��������	7���D�������7D���7���������7�7��������������<�S?�T*2,%'U$�/.$�K,-/3�� E����������
���D��78���7����������<�E7��:������	�;����9����������
�����������9�������7�	�;����9����<�E���������	�;����79����������������������������������������	��7��<�V�����:�����9�������������
���D��78����7��7������9��������9�������	7�7�����������������	7��
	������������7�7��<�����		��7��������99����������	��������������	�;����9������7��7������9��������9�������	7�7������������������		���������
	7��
����������7	��7����79����7���9������������������������������������	7��
	����	7������������<�W?�X+%3'&$*�,%&�&'3-A33�/.$�+#/'+%3�� ������D���9����7�����;�7	�
	��7�����7�D������7�7����7		����������������������9��������	7���7��:�����9������������;��
������������:����������������9�����������������������������������	7��
	����	7�7��:��7��7�:�������������<��Y?�Z$B$-/�,%�+#/'+%�� C�������7��������7�����7�������:�������	��7�������	����;��
����������������������������9�������������������	7��
	����	7�7�������������<��D�7�:������;�7	�
	�����7�����7		����������������������9��������	7���7��<�����;�:��������7�����	�����������
�����������
�������	�;����9�������������������	7�������������	7��
	����	7�7���������������<�G����7��:��������7�7�������
����
[����������		��D������
7�����������7�7���<
66



Ex-parte Communications and Virginia Freedom of Information Act 

This document is a guide for Planning Commissioners to use when discussing matters outside of 

Planning Commission meetings. 

Ex parte is Latin meaning “from or on one side only, with the other side absent or 

unrepresented.”  In a democratic society, open, fair decision making is critical to whether the 

public trusts what the government is doing. 

Open meetings at the federal government level are based on the passage of the Government in 

the Sunshine Act of 1976, typically referred to as the “Sunshine Act”. It occurred at a time in U.S. 

history when the Watergate scandal had caused an outcry for increased government 

transparency and accountability. Also known as the Open Meetings Act, its primary function is to 

ensure that decisions regarding the federal government that affect the public are open and 

accessible to the public. 

In Virginia the Freedom of Information Act, more commonly known as the open meetings law or 

Sunshine Law, states that a meeting, which consists of three or more members of a public body 

discussing public business, must provide notice before holding the gathering. Intended to hold 

the government accountable, FOIA requires there be at least three days’ notice of a meeting. It 

must also include the date, time, place, and be open to the public. 

In planning circles, ex parte, or one-sided communications, are usually problematic, either legally, 

ethically, or both. A Variance or Special Use Permit (SUP) is typically considered a quasi-judicial 

action, where a Planning Commission, Board of Zoning Appeals, and/or Town Council often sit as 

judges and rule on a specific case and the applicability of facts to it. To help ensure proper due 

process is given to all parties, they need to hear all the facts equally and openly, as do those who 

may be opponents, proponents, or just interested by-standers of the matter at hand. 

Land use issues frequently bring out enthusiastic opinions from all sides. One of the most 
important roles of a Planning Commissioner is to be an objective, fair-minded representative of 
the community. It is of the utmost importance to resist the temptation to “make up” one’s mind 
before hearing all the facts. Having said that, if Commissioners become partisan or politically 
motivated in their decision-making, or if the appearance of fairness and open-mindedness is 
breached, then the confidence the public has in the Commission’s decision-making process will 
deteriorate rapidly. It is of the utmost importance to resist the temptation to “make up” one’s 
mind before hearing all the facts — for the sake of the individuals with a stake in the issue, and, 
for the integrity of the democratic process itself. 

The best advice is for Planning Commissioners to avoid ex-parte communications or information 

completely. In the event some new information is given to you on a case, it must be disclosed 

openly during the process as soon as possible. 

  

67



On especially hot topics, Planning Commissioners or Town Council members are often 

bombarded with phone calls, letters, or people catching them at the grocery store, each giving 

good reasons why a project should be approved or rejected. However, even though there may 

be more allowance given to how information is gathered in legislative actions as opposed to 

quasi-judicial ones, there still exists this whole idea of fairness that is essential to not only making 

good decisions but also giving the appearance of it. An action doesn’t have to be illegal to be ill-

advised. 

Information on a case can be either frivolous or important, regardless of the source. Often, the 

only way to know the difference is to make it available for public consumption. It may be relevant, 

it may be irrelevant, but the surest way to know is to make it public.i 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Excerpts courtesy of Ted Shekell, AICP (retired) 

68



�����������	�
	�����
��
����
���	��

� 	����������		�
������ �������

������������ ��!"���#
$� �! ���!%#"��!&�

'�(" % � ��!�)��� %(*)��(
$���+,-��%.� �����%"�

"%��# !(���"���!%#�'���
�(%'! %�(�/� 0��(�

 �������������/�!�$����/
��"1��2�%$�)���#&� ��

!##)�!"�!�*�(��!#���#�1�
����+,-�����('%#�

�!($�� ��( % #�$�3456
78�69:�;<<=79>?3�

!2!%#!/#���(� ���+,-����
�('%#�0�/"% �1� @@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@
@@@@@@@@@@@@@� �	������ � AB���CD�E��
�����	�
���F��

� ����0�% %(*"�!($���'��$
%(*"� �! �'�("%" ��.�

#�  ��"G�0��$"����(��/��"
G���� ��%���H�%2!#�( G�

"� �$�0(�/&��!($0�
% %(*G� &��0�% %(*G�

��%( %(*G���� �" !  %(
*G���� �*�!��&G�

�!*(� %'�%���#"�G��� %'!
#�����!*(� �I�� %'!#�

.���G���'�!(%'!#�����#�'
 ��(%'���'��$%(*����

� ����.�����.�$! !�'�
��%#! %�(G���0�2���

" ���$G�!($���*!�$#�""��
.���&"%'!#�.�������

'�!�!' ��%" %'"G�����!��$�
����0(�$�/&G����%(�

 �����""�""%�(��.�!���/#%'
�/�$&����% "��..%'��"G�

���#�&��"����!*�( "�%(
� ��� �!("!' %�(��.�

��/#%'�/�"%(�""1�� � ����JKLMCN �OPNQORD�EOP�
�	��SQ�STP�JKLMCN�

UVWXYY�!�"��'%.%'��Z��
� %�(�%(�#!0�!##�0"�

 �����'��$� ��/��0% ���#$1
� �

����������	�
	�����
��
����
���	��

� AB���ELQKS��	�	��
����Q[��
����

�	�����F� � \�/#%'���'��$"�]�̂��/����
 !%(�$�!''��$%(*� ��

�� �( %�(�"'��$�#�"�"� �
/&� ���_%/�!�&��.�

�%�*%(%!1�����#�(* ���.��
� �( %�(�$���($"��(�

 ���'�( �( ��.� �����'��$
1��. ����Z�%�! %�(��.�

 ���!��#%'!/#���� �( %�( �
���%�$G� �����'��$"�

�!&�/��$�" ��&�$����$%"'!
�$�$1� @@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@
@@@@@@@@@@@@@� 	������ � �̀!%#"� �! ���#! �� ����/#%'�/�"
%(�""�!�����/#%'�

��'��$"G���*!�$#�""��.�0�
� ����&����"��&����

�������� �..%'��'���� �
�G� �Z ���""!*�G����

� ����.���"��.�"�'%!#���$
%!1�- �%"� ���NQaSPaS�

�.� �����'��$G�(� � ����
H�%���( ��"�$G� �! �

'�( ��#"1� � �"�"�'�G� ��"����!%#"��
�" �/���� !%(�$�!"�

��H�%��$�/&� ����%�*%(%!�
\ �/#%'�b�'��$"��' 1�

+�����!' %'!#�!$2%'��.����
�!%#��"�G�!''�""�!($�

�� �( %�(G�"���+,-�����(
'%#��!($�� ��( % #�$�

345678c�d?<e�fgg<??�69:�
h<=<9=7i93�!2!%#!/#��

�(� ���+,-�����('%#�0�/
"% �1� @@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@@
@@@@@@@@@@@@@� jCOkCaCE��OPPRQl�Q[��a[
QOlESCQa� �RmCDQOn��QKaNCM� � �MEa��POaTEORSG�4o< gp=
7q<�r7s<g=is� �DTMPn�
CaaDG�f==is9<t� �̀!%#u��.�%!'��('%#v$#"12%
�*%(%!1*�2� ��#����(�u�wxyz{�|}xI~x~
y�

��##I+���u�~Ix||IzzxIz~y
y�

�  �u�.�%!'��( '%#1$#"12%�*%
(%!1*�2�

� � � �����������������������
���

�����������������������
��������

����������������������
��������� ������������������������
������ ������� � � � � � � � � � � ������������������������
��������� ������������������������
���������

�
69



�����������	�
	�����
��
����
���	�� � �������������� � �����������������������
������� �����!�

"���#$!��� ��%��������
��&�!��&'�����

(&##&�)��!������*����
������&����&�*�����

�����%��&*��&'��%$!���&''��
��!����*�'����������

�&�#��������&'��%$!���$
&*����)�����������

$%�������&'�������&�!����
�$������&�*%���*+�

,����''�����&'��&-���#��
�������&�������*�*�

�&�$���&�*%���*���������#
&�������&'���������

����������!!���#��������
%$!�������&�$������

$���'�������&'���������&�
���.����������!�-�!�

&'��&-���#���+�� � /�!�������%$!���$&*��
&���%$!���&''����!�

�����'���!!���!������&��0��
���������0�#���&��

��&-�*�*�$������������
���&������&�����

����%�����-����#���������
�!!�$��&�����&�����

�%$!�����*��!!��%$!���
���&�*�����!!�$��

�-��!�$!��'&����������&��
��*��&������%�&��

��1%���+�"!!��%$!������&
�*����*�#��������

���!!�$������%#�*�&
�����%�!�������

�0�#���&�������&���!����-
&.�*+�

�

����������	�
	�����
��
����
���	�� � �		2��3��	4���	�

	�2�� � 5678�9:�;<=:9>?@?>�7��		
2��3�A=>?@�

����B� CDE�FGHIJKLMFN�LMOPQRLMF�S
TKU�VJVVLTMVN�TW�HIJ�

OTMVHLHQJMH�XJXYJKVILZ
N�VLHHLMF�[TK�HIKTQFI�

JPJOHKTMLO�OTXXQMLOGHLTM
�XJGMV�ZQKVQGMH�HT�\�

]̂]_̀abĉ]d�GVe�� f�HIJ�YTGKRN�TK�� f�GM�LMWTKXGP�GVVJXY
PGFJ�TW�� g�[Ld�GV�XGMh�GV�HIKJJ�X

JXYJKVN� TK�� g�[LLd�G�iQTKQXN�LW�PJVV�
HIGM�HIKJJN� TW�HIJ�OTMVHLHQJMH�XJXYJ
KVILZN��

jklmlnlm�HIJ�FGHIJKL
MF�LV�IJPRo�

pqrCpstquu�TW�SIJH
IJK�XLMQHJV�GKJ�HGUJM�

vw�xTHJV�GKJ�OGVĤ� ��2	y�zILV�KJiQLKJXJMH
�GPVT�GZZPLJV�HT�{|}�

XJJHLMFN�LMOPQRLMF�STKU�
VJVVLTMVN�TW�GMh�

VQYFKTQZ�TW�HIJ�YTGKRN�KJ
FGKRPJVV�ITS�

VQYFKTQZ�LV�RJVLFMGHJR�[L̂
ĴN�VQYOTXXLHHJJN�HGVU�

WTKOJN�STKUFKTQZN�JHÔd̂� � 5~�2�9:�D���7��		2
��3B� f�zIJ�FGHIJKLMF�TW�JXZPT
hJJVo�TK�

f�zIJ�FGHIJKLMF�TK�GHHJ
MRGMOJ�TW�HST�TK� XTKJ�YTGKR�OTQMOLP�XJX
YJKV�GHe�

g�{Mh�ZPGOJ�TK�WQMOHLTM
�SIJKJ�MT�ZGKH� TW�HIJ�ZQKZTVJ�TW�VQOI�FG
HIJKLMF�TK�

GHHJMRGMOJ�LV�HIJ�RLVO
QVVLTM�TK�

HKGMVGOHLTM�TW�GMh�ZQYPLO
�YQVLMJVVN�

GMR�VQOI�FGHIJKLMF�TK�
GHHJMRGMOJ�

SGV�MTH�OGPPJR�TK�ZKJGKKG
MFJR�SLHI�

GMh�ZQKZTVJ�TW�RLVOQ
VVLMF�TK�

HKGMVGOHLMF�GMh�YQVLMJVVo�
�m��

g�{�ZQYPLO�WTKQXN�OGMR
LRGHJ� GZZJGKGMOJN�TK�RJYGHJN�HIJ
�ZQKZTVJ�

TW�SILOI�LV�HT�LMWTKX�HIJ�
JPJOHTKGHJ�

GMR�MTH�HT�RLVOQVV�TK�HKGM
VGOH�ZQYPLO�

YQVLMJVV̂�

����������	�
	�����
��
����
���	�� � �2~	������������

����� � ����2	�y���LMQHJV���
	��	4���	��

WTK�GMh�XJJHLMF�TW�HIJ�YT
GKR�VQYFKTQZ�TW�HIJ�

YTGKR̂�� � ��2��3y��|��VJOKJH�TK�
SKLHHJM�YGPPTHV�GKJ�

JxJK�GPPTSJR̂� � �����3y��}TQ��{}�O
TMHGOH�LMRLxLRQGP�

XJXYJKV�:?�7@78?����<=?
�<=�<=?��HT�

GVOJKHGLM�HIJLK�ZTVLHLTMV�Y
h�ZITMJN�PJHHJK�TK�

JXGLP̂��� w������w��zILV�J�JX
ZHLTM��{ ||�z�YJ�

QVJR�LM�PLJQ�TW�G�XJJHLMF̂
��

w������w��"��v���W�h
TQ�OITTVJ�HT�QVJ�

JXGLP�HT�ZTPPN�hTQ�GKJ�OKJG
HLMF�G�ZQYPLO�

KJOTKR�� � ����	���		2��3�y
��{PPTSJR������

GV�VZJOLWLOGPPh�GQHITKL�JR
�Yh����{�TK�THIJK�

PGS�GMR��	4���	��G�X
THLTM�VHGHLMF�HIJ�

ZQKZTVJN�HIJ�VQY�JOHN���*�
�TRJ�OLHĴ����JJ�\�

]̂]_̀a���TW����{�WTK�GPPT
SGYPJ�ZQKZTVJV�WTK�

OPTVJR�XJJHLMFV̂�� � 	��		2��3�y�{KJ�GPPT
SJR�WTK�VHGHJ�

ZQYPLO�YTRLJV�QMRJK�IJLFI
HJMJR�ZKTOJRQKGP�

GMR�KJZTKHLMF�KJiQLKJXJM
HV�[L̂ĴN�iQTKQX�

XQVH�YJ�ZIhVLOGPPh�GVVJX
YPJR�LM�TMJ�

PTOGHLTMN�GMMQGP�KJZTKH�HT�
���{��TQMOLPN�

JHÔd̂��TK�GPP�ZQYPLO�YTRLJ
VN�PLXLHJR�LMRLxLRQGP�

ZGKHLOLZGHLTM�Yh�JPJOHKTMLO
�XJGMV�LV�GPPTSJR�

QMRJK�OJKHGLM�OLKOQXVHGMO
JV�[ZJKVTMGP�XGHHJKN�

XJRLOGP�KJGVTMN�TK�RLVHGMO
J�LM�HIJ�OGVJ�TW�

KJFLTMGP�ZQYPLO�YTRLJVd̂���
JJ�\�]̂]_̀abĉ]�TW�

���{̂�� � �
70



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 8.5
New Business
Title: 2022 Annual Report
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Approve the report.

Explanation:

The Planning Commission will review the 2022 Annual Report.

Background:

As required by Sec. 58-36(5) of the Code of the Town of Altavista and §15.2-2221(5) of the Code of
Virginia, the Planning Commission must prepare and submit an annual report to Town Council on the
state of planning commission and the status of planning within the town.

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

Altavista Planning Commission 2022 Annual Report.pdf

71

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/1711795/Altavista_Planning_Commission_2022_Annual_Report.pdf


 

 

 

 

OVERVIEW  
 

The Altavista Planning Commission is comprised of five citizens appointed by Town Council.  

The Commission fulfills the duties identified in Section 15.2-2221 of the Code of Virginia.  The 

Planning Commission is the official planning body for review of the future growth and 

development of the Town of Altavista pursuant to the adopted Comprehensive Plan and Town 

Ordinances.  The Community Development Department is the lead department that supports 

the work of the Planning Commission by providing planning guidance and technical review.  The 

Town Attorney serves a valuable role in advising the Planning Commission and staff – when 

needed – on land use matters.  Town citizens also provide critical contributions through input 

and involvement during citizen comment periods and public hearings. 

MEMBERSHIP 

 

NAME TERM EXPIRES 

John Jordan, Chairman November 2026 

Reggie Bennett (Council Liaison) December 2026 

Marie Mitchell, Vice Chair March 2026 

Meghan Bolling February 2026 

Ashby “A.J.” Robinson December 2026 

 

STAFF 

 

NAME POSITION 

Sharon D. Williams, AICP 
Community Development 

Director 

J. Johnson Eller, Jr. Town Attorney 

Crystal Hailey Assistant Town Clerk 

 

  

TOWN OF ALTAVISTA 

PLANNING COMMISSION 

ANNUAL REPORT - 2022 

AGENDA COVER SHEET 

COMMISSIONERS 

John Jordan, Chair 
Marie Mitchell, Vice Chair  
Vice Mayor Reggie Bennett 
Meghan Bolling 
Ashby Robinson 

72



 

 

REGULATORY CASES 

 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENTS 

 

  

Case # 
DATE OF 

COMMISSION 
ACTION 

COMMISSION 
Action 

Date of 
Council Action 

Town 
Council 

Vote 
APPLICANT REQUEST 

SUP-22-01 July 5, 202 
Recommended 

Approval 
(5-0) 

August 9, 2022 
Approved 

(6-0) 

DAWN 
(Donation 

A Week 
Neighbor, 

Inc.) 

A Special User Permit (SUP) to 
authorize a food pantry at 717 
7th St in the C-2 Zoning District 
pursuant to Sec. 86.782 of the 

Zoning Ordinance. 

RZ-22-01 August 1, 2022 
Recommended 

Approval 5-0 
August 9, 2022 

Approved 
(9-0) 

Town of 
Altavista 

An ordinance to zone Tax Parcel 
#69-4-4-3 to the Industrial (M) 
Zoning District, which parcel 

was brought within the 
corporate limits of the Town of 

Altavista from Campbell County, 
by a Boundary Line Adjustment 

ordered by the Campbell 
County Circuit Court on June 24, 

2022, effective July 1, 2022. 
 

Case # 
DATE OF 

COMMISSION 
ACTION 

COMMISSION 
Action 

Date of 
Council Action 

Town 
Council 

Vote 
APPLICANT REQUEST 

OA-22-01 August 1, 2022 
Recommended 

Approval 
(5-0) 

September 13, 
2022 

Approved 
(5-0) 

Town of 
Altavista 

An ordinance to amend Sec. 86-
139 of the Zoning Ordinance to 

permit flagpoles up to 35' in 
height by-right and additional 
height w/ a Special Use Permit 

in the R-1 Zoning District. 

OA-22-02 August 1, 2022 
Recommended 

Approval 
(5-0) 

September 13, 
2022 

Approved 
(5-0) 

Town of 
Altavista 

An ordinance to amend Sec. 86-
199 of the Zoning Ordinance to 

permit flagpoles up to 35' in 
height by right and additional 
height w/ a Special Use Permit 

in the R-2 Zoning District. 

OA-22-03 August 1, 2022 
Recommended 

Approval 
(5-0) 

September 13, 
2022 

Approved 
(5-0) 

Town of 
Altavista 

An ordinance to amend Sec. 86-
327 of the Zoning Ordinance to 

permit flagpoles up to 35' in 
height by right and additional 
height w/ a Special Use Permit 

in the C-1 Zoning District. 

73



 

 

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT ADMINISTRATION 

Applications  

•  70 Zoning Permits were issued in 2022 

• 31 of the Zoning Permits were for new businesses or changes in ownership in 2022 

• 13 plats were approved 
 

Name Location Type of Business 
Riverside Drycleaners of Danville, Inc 1025 Main St Former Riverside Dry Cleaner 

Sunset Slush Cool Bus Varies Mobile Restaurant 

Body Boss Transformations LLC 521 Main St Body Sculpting  

Main Street Buffett 1014 Main St Restaurant (new owner) 

Treasia Smith 206 Frazier Rd Cleaning Service* 

DAWN (Donation A Week Neighbor) 717 7th St Food Pantry 

Jonathon Arroway 1010 7th St Computer work, sales, crafts* 

Black Crow Firearm Training 821 Main St Office 

Sherry McCullock -Shear Perfection 612 7th St Salon – new tenant 

Mint & Honey 503 7th St Salon 

Keystone Novelties 1301 Main St Fireworks (temporary vendor) 

Pop’s Bait & Tackle 103 Wood Ln Bait & Tackle  

Nails By Angela 613 Broad Street Salon 

Karl Miller Realty 616 Campbell Ave Real Estate Office 

Puff & Play 1107 Main St Skill Games – new owner 

Armory Consultants 1502 Avondale Dr Consultant 

M&M Cleaners 804 Main St Dry Cleaner 

Gabby’s Cut & Buzz 613 Broad St Salon – new tenant 

Revamped 2187 Lynch Mill Rd Retail 

AltaVegas 1200 Avondale Ave Multi-Family new owner 

Perfect Canvas Salon 613 Broad St Salon 

Peggy Myers 613 Broad St New Tenant –Salon name change 

OA-22-04 August 1, 2022 
Recommended 

Approval 
(5-0) 

September 13, 
2022 

Approved 
(5-0) 

Town of 
Altavista 

An ordinance to amend Sec. 86-
356 of the Zoning Ordinance to 

permit flagpoles up to 40' in 
height by right and additional 
height w/ a Special Use Permit 

in the C-2 Zoning District. 

OA-22-05 August 1, 2022 
Recommended 

Approval 
(5-0) 

September 13, 
2022 

Approved 
(5-0) 

Town of 
Altavista 

An ordinance to amend Sec. 86-
188 of the Zoning Ordinance to 

permit flagpoles up to 45' in 
height by right and additional 
height w/ a Special Use Permit 

in the M Zoning District. 

OA-22-06 N/A N/A 
November 25, 

2022 

Take No 
Action 
(refund 

applicant) 
(5-2) 

Pivot 
Energy 

A request to amend the Zoning 
Ordinance to permit large scale 

utility solar in the C-2 & M 
Zoning Districts with a Special 

Use Permit. 

74



 

 

Name Location Type of Business 

Community Veterinary Clinic 1301 Main St Mobile Vet -Tractor Supply 

KDR Convenience  1308 Main St Convenience Store new owner 

Janes Attic 613 Main St Retail 

Peace of Pie Pizzeria LLC 519 Broad St Restaurant 

Mazen Inc (Joy Food Store) 1028 Main St  Convenience Store -new owner 

KDR Convenience LLC 1205 Main St Convenience Store new owner 

Sonny Enterprises 1032 Main St Vape Shop 

Allure LLC 901 7th St Salon – name change 

Joan Tyree 613 Broad St Salon Tenant – name change 
 *  H. O. – Home Occupation 

 

Temporary Food Truck/Mobile Restaurant Permits for festivals/events: 
Unbeatable Pita  Mission BBQ   Chief’s BBQ  Bella’s Burgers & Shakes 

SWVA Concessions Big Blue Ice Cream Truck  Hardman Smoke  Bennie’s Seafood  

Watts Poppin & Chillin Buddy’s BBQ   Claire Parker’s BBQ Three Into One 

Pop’s Good Humor Kona Ice of Lynchburg  Boardwalk Baker Cheesecake  

Air Strip Grill 

Two (2) new single-family dwellings were built or under construction in 2022 

  1301 3rd Street  1301 4th Street  

 

Violations 

During 2022, staff received seventy-seven (77) confirmed code enforcement complaints. Sixty-

nine (69) complaints were abated.   

 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT SPECIAL PROJECTS 

In August 2021 work began on the update to the Comprehensive Plan between the Planning 

Commission, Town staff, and the Central Virginia Planning District Commission staff. This work 

continued in 2022. An online survey and paper survey was created to gather input from citizens 

and the Planning Commission completed a SOAR (Strength, Opportunity, Aspiration, Results) 

Analysis. Plan was restructured, made visually appealing, and inclusive, Altavista’s history and 

historic district were added, demographic data updated based on 2020 Census, Town Plans 

where Community Development or Planning Commission were mentioned as an implementer 

was added or referenced in the plan and the Goals & Objectives for the Town were updated in 

the categories of Housing, Economic Development, Community Facilities, Natural & Cultural 

Resources, Land Use, and Transportation. The Plan was adopted by Town Council on December 

13, 2022 and is officially known as the 2045 Comprehensive Plan. 

Town staff completed work on establishing a Town-based Geographical Information System 

(GIS). This will allow staff to share information about streets, zoning and overlay districts, and 

the recommended Future Land Use designations from the Comprehensive Plan. This 

information is not available on the Campbell County GIS application. Staff shared a link to this 

portal on the Community Development page of the Town’s website. 

75



 

 

 

An online permit application portal was created and posted to the Town’s website. This allows 

citizens to apply for permits without having to come to Town Hall. 

 

The town completed the renovation of the vacant fire station, next to Town Hall, into an 

accelerator, incubator, and coworking space known as Spark Innovation Center. The facility is 

expected to open to the public in early 2023. 

 

The Town formed a project team for its Acquire Renovate Sell (ARS) Program which is a grant 

funded by the Virginia Department of Housing and Community Development (DHCD).  This 

program will allow the town and its partners to purchase undervalued homes, renovate, and 

sell them. It also permits funds to be used for new construction. Under the program 

guidelines a maximum of $45,000 in ARS funds will be awarded per project to restore the 

home to a comparable market state. The $45,000 will include $2,000 for performance 

deliverables (acquisition: $500, renovation: $1,000, resale: $500) incurred by the provider and 

$2,500 for the rehab specialist. The remaining $40,500 will be available for renovation 

draws and contingencies. When the house is sold, the town will repay DHCD $40,500. Any 

profit can be used for the town to create its own program. The town’s first three projects will 

be in the Mosley Heights neighborhood. The Town owned one lot in this neighborhood before 

applying for the grant. In response to a Notice of Violation (NOV) a property owner offered to 

sell a blighted property on 13th St and 2 vacant lots on 15th St to the town.   These properties 

will be developed as single-family dwellings. 

 
ALTAVISTA ADVANTAGE 

Kaitlin Smith, Perfect Canvas Salon, received a $10,000 loan through the Altavista Advantage 

Program. This was a 60-month, no interest loan that allowed her to purchase equipment and 

fixtures for her new salon located at 613 Broad St. 

 

The US Department of Agriculture (USDA) notified the Town that the remaining $31,000 in this 

revolving loan fund would be de-obligated on November 10, 2022. The Town was awarded a 

Rural Business Enterprise Grant (RBEG) in June of 2014 for $99,500. Six (6) businesses were 

assisted through this program. 

 

ALTAVISTA ON TRACK (AOT) SPECIAL PROJECTS 

On May 14, 2022, AOT hosted its first spring festival known as Vista River Fest. AOT hosted 

three (3) bands, a petting zoo, photo booth, food trucks, and craft breweries. There was no 

charge to attend the event and it was AOT’s thanks to the citizens and businesses of Altavista 

for their support. 

Altavista On Track awarded a Downtown Business Investment Grant (DBIG) to one (1) 

downtown business: Perfect Canvas Salon at 613 Broad St. This grant provided three (3) months 

76



 

 

of rent and utility subsidies to assist the business with getting started without incurring large 

upfront costs.  

In July, the Town and AOT amended their Memorandum of Understanding to provide funding 

which allowed AOT to hire a full-time Executive Director. Previously, a Town employee was 

hired to manage the day-to-day activities of the nonprofit.  This arrangement provided AOT 

additional autonomy to manage and direct the Executive Director. 

 PLANNING COMMISSION 2022 WORK PLAN 

• Update the Subdivision Ordinance. 

• Begin the update to the Zoning Ordinance. 

• Continue to explore ways to provide an improved housing stock that meets the needs of 

citizens. 

 

77



TOWN OF ALTAVISTA
PLANNING COMMISSION

January 3, 2023
AGENDA COVER SHEET

 

 AGENDA ITEM #: 8.6
New Business
Title: Visioning Exercise
Staff Resource: Sharon D. Williams, AICP, Community Development Director
 

Action(s):

Participate in a visioning session with staff.

Explanation:

Staff and the Planning Commission will participate in a visioning exercise.

Background:

The Altavista 2045 Comprehensive Plan was adopted by Town Council on December 13, 2023. The
next step is for the Planning Commission and staff is the update Subdivision Ordinance and the Zoning
Ordinance.
 
To prepare for the rewrite, a discussion will be held on things that might need to be addressed in the
code update to add or eliminate certain uses and features to create a town that is prepared for
development, which is capable of enticing new businesses, industries, and residents.

Funding Source(s):

N/A

Attachments:  (click item to open)

78


	Planning Commission Agenda
	2576 - Cover Page
	2576 - attachment. PC Mtg. Minutes 11.07.22
	2554 - Cover Page
	2556 - Cover Page
	2556 - Planning-Commission-Welcome-Packet.pdf
	2556 - Albermarle County Digest of Land Use Issues.pdf
	2571 - Cover Page
	2571 - Bylaws - PC - 2023.pdf
	2571 - Rules of Procedure.pdf
	2571 - ROBERTS_RULES_CHEAT_SHEET.pdf
	2567 - Cover Page
	2567 - PC Code of Ethical Principals 2023.pdf
	2567 - Albermarle Ethics in Government.pdf
	2558 - Cover Page
	2558 - Albermarle Approach to Discretionary Land Use Decisions.pdf
	2558 - Ex-Parte Communications.pdf
	2558 - FOIAGuideForMembersPublicBodies.pdf
	2555 - Cover Page
	2555 - Altavista Planning Commission 2022 Annual Report.pdf
	2560 - Cover Page

